Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: October 28, 2014 REVISED: March 27, 2015 ACCEPTED: May 12, 2015 PUBLISHED: May 26, 2015

A low temperature expansion for matrix quantum mechanics

Ying-Hsuan Lin,^a Shu-Heng Shao,^b Yifan Wang^b and Xi Yin^a

ABSTRACT: We analyze solutions to loop-truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations in massless $\mathcal{N} = 2$ and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics at finite temperature, where conventional perturbation theory breaks down due to IR divergences. We find a rather intricate low temperature expansion that involves fractional power scaling in the temperature, based on a consistent "soft collinear" approximation. We conjecture that at least in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ matrix quantum mechanics, such scaling behavior holds to all perturbative orders in the 1/N expansion. We discuss some preliminary results in analyzing the gauged supersymmetric quantum mechanics using Schwinger-Dyson equations, and comment on the connection to metastable microstates of black holes in the holographic dual of BFSS matrix quantum mechanics.

KEYWORDS: Supersymmetric gauge theory, Gauge-gravity correspondence, M(atrix) Theories, M-Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1304.1593



^a Jefferson Physical Laboratory, Harvard University, 17 Oxford St., Cambridge, MA 02138, U.S.A.

^bCenter for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 77 Massachusetts Ave., Cambridge, MA 02139, U.S.A.

E-mail: yhlin@physics.harvard.edu, shshao@mit.edu, yifanw@mit.edu, xiyin@fas.harvard.edu

Contents

1	1 Introduction				
2	<i>N</i> =	$\mathcal{N}=2$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics			
	2.1	The action	8		
	2.2	Schwinger-Dyson equations	9		
	2.3	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY Ward identities	11		
3	The low temperature limit				
	3.1	A "soft-collinear" approximation	12		
	3.2	Nonzero modes σ_n , η_n , h_r and the auxiliary zero mode η_0	13		
	3.3	Boson zero mode σ_0	14		
	3.4	Continuum limit	15		
	3.5	Free energy	16		
	3.6	Higher loop corrections	17		
4	<i>N</i> =	= 4 Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics	19		
	4.1	Action, Schwinger-Dyson equations, and free energy	19		
	4.2	Higher loops	20		
5	Towards the low temperature expansion of BFSS				
	5.1	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixed BFSS	22		
	5.2	The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ ghost determinant	23		
	5.3	The free energy	25		
	5.4	$\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge-fixing	26		
	5.5	Phases of BFSS	27		
6	The	e high temperature limit	27		
	6.1	Schwinger-Dyson equations	28		
	6.2	The free energy	29		
	6.3	Size of the wave function	29		
7	Further discussions				
	7.1	More supersymmetric gauges	30		
	7.2	Schwinger-Dyson equations for supersymmetric field theories in other di- mensions	31		
Δ	Hav	vking decay rate of D0-branes	32		
_	A.1	Grevbody factor	33		
	A.2	Partial wave summation	35		
	A.3	Decay rate	36		

\subseteq
ΗH
Ю
\bigcirc
СЛ
\frown
\mathbb{N}
\bigcirc
\vdash
СЛ
\checkmark
\vdash
ω
0

в	$1\mathrm{D}\;\mathcal{N}=2\;\mathrm{SUSY}$					
	B.1	Supers	pace	37		
	B.2	Vector	multiplet	38		
		B.2.1	Connections	38		
		B.2.2	Supersymmetry transformations	38		
		B.2.3	Field strengths	39		
		B.2.4	Action	39		
	B.3 Matter multiplet			40		
	B.4	Schwin	ger-Dyson equations for BFSS in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ language	41		
	B.5	Free er	nergy of BFSS in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixing condition	43		
\mathbf{C}	$1D \mathcal{N} = 4 \text{ SUSY}$					
	C.1 Superspace and convention					
	C.2	Chiral	multiplet	45		
	C.3	Vector	multiplet	45		
	C.4	$\mathcal{N}=4$	SUSY Ward identities	46		
	C.5	Vector	multiplet zero mode action under $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge-fixing	47		
D	Computation of x_n 4					
\mathbf{E}	Computation of $s_n^{(1)}, h_r^{(1)}, s_n^{(2)}$ and $h_r^{(2)}$					
\mathbf{F}	Computation of the free energy					
G	High temperature analysis of one-loop truncated $\mathcal{N}~=~2$ gauge-fixed					
	BFS	\mathbf{SS}		55		
	G.1	Sublea	ding corrections to the self-energies	55		
	G.2	Free er	nergy in the high temperature limit	56		

1 Introduction

The sixteen supercharge SU(N) gauged matrix quantum mechanics was famously proposed by Banks, Fischler, Shenker and Susskind to give a non-perturbative formulation of M-theory [1]. It was later recognized [2–5] that the precise holographic dual of the matrix quantum mechanics is an asymptotically null compactification of M-theory, along the general lines of gauge/gravity duality [6–8]. Despite intense efforts over a number of years (see [9] and references therein), most of the successful tests of the duality were realized to be consequences of supersymmetric non-renormalization theorems [10–14], while unsuccessful attempts [15–17] in testing the duality involved comparisons of the gravity and gauge theory results in regimes that do not overlap. It had become clear that in order to explore the semi-classical gravity (either type IIA or 11-dimensional supergravity) regime in the bulk, one must work in the genuinely strong coupling regime of the matrix quantum mechanics.

A strong coupling test of the duality within the 't Hooft scaling regime was performed by numerically computing the free energy of the matrix quantum mechanics at finite temperature using Monte Carlo method [18–25]. The result was shown to be consistent with the expected free energy of black holes in the gravity dual. In order for the black hole horizon to lie in the semi-classical gravity regime, one needs to take the low temperature and large N limits of the matrix quantum mechanics. However, these are precisely the limits where the Monte Carlo computation becomes costly.

An alternative approach to the thermal free energy of the matrix quantum mechanics was pioneered by Kabat, Lifschytz and Lowe, using the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations [26–28]. This is the approach we will follow, and refine, in this paper. In place of the numerical solutions to the Schwinger-Dyson equations investigated in [26– 28], we will analyze the solutions to these equations analytically. We will see that in the low temperature limit, intricate cancelation occurs due to an approximate restoration of supersymmetry, which allows for nontrivial scaling behavior with temperature. Despite the fact that the naive 't Hooft coupling goes to infinity in the low temperature limit, the effective coupling parameter that controls the loop expansion of Schwinger-Dyson equation could be finite, and the scaling behavior of solutions to the one-loop Schwinger-Dyson equation could survive to all order in the 1/N expansion, when there are sufficiently many supersymmetries.

Before describing our results, let us briefly review the connection between black holes in the bulk geometry and the thermal free energy of the dual quantum mechanics. The gravity dual of the SU(N) BFSS matrix quantum mechanics at finite temperature is given by type IIA string theory in the near horizon limit of a near extremal black hole carrying N units of D0-brane charge [2–5]

$$ds_{IIA}^{2} = -f^{-1/2}Adt^{2} + f^{1/2}A^{-1}(dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega_{8}^{2}),$$

$$C_{1} = -f^{-1}\left(\frac{1+A}{2}\right)dt, \qquad e^{\phi} = f^{3/4},$$

$$f \equiv \frac{c_{0}g_{s}Nl_{s}^{7}}{r^{7}}, \qquad c_{0} = 60\pi^{3}, \quad A = 1 - \frac{r_{0}^{7}}{r^{7}},$$
(1.1)

where $d\Omega_8^2$ is the metric on a unit eight-sphere, and the black hole horizon is at $r = r_0$. The Hawking temperature of the black hole is

$$T_H = \frac{7}{(2\pi)^{7/2}\sqrt{30}} (g_{\rm YM}^2 N)^{-1/2} \left(\frac{r_0}{l_s^2}\right)^{5/2},$$
(1.2)

where $g_{\rm YM}^2 = g_s/4\pi^2 l_s^3$. The free energy of the black hole is [29]

$$\beta F = -\left(\frac{2^{21} 3^2 5^7 \pi^{14}}{7^{19}}\right)^{1/5} N^2 \left(\frac{T}{(g_{\rm YM}^2 N)^{1/3}}\right)^{9/5}.$$
 (1.3)

The black hole horizon lies in the type IIA supergravity regime when $g_{\rm YM}^{2/3} N^{-1/7} \ll T \ll g_{\rm YM}^{2/3} N^{1/3}$. Working in the 't Hooft scaling limit on the gauged quantum mechanics side, one takes the large N limit while keeping the dimensionless 't Hooft coupling $g_{\rm YM}^2 N/T^3$ finite.

The $T^{9/5}$ scaling of the free energy or the entropy of the black hole is expected to hold in the matrix quantum mechanics in the limit of large 't Hooft coupling, or equivalently, the low temperature limit.

One must be cautious about the meaning of the free energy of the matrix quantum mechanics at large N. Since BFSS quantum mechanics has exactly flat directions, at finite N, the free energy is infinite, reflecting the continuum of scattering states. There are only N flat directions, however, whereas the entropy of the black hole in the gravity dual scales like N^2 times a function of the dimensionless 't Hooft coupling. If we regularize the volume divergence by an IR cutoff at distances much greater than the horizon size of the black hole but much smaller than e^N , we expect the black hole states to dominate the contribution to the free energy. In particular, if we take the infinite N limit first, and then take the volume to infinity while maintaining that the volume grows no faster than exponential in N, the N^2 coefficient of the free energy of interest. The corresponding, finite, entropy of order N^2 generally counts metastable states rather than exact energy eigenstates in the quantum mechanics. Nonetheless, the lifetime of these metastable are expected to go to infinity (exponentially) in the infinity N limit.

In the gravity dual, the metastable states are the microstates of the D0 black hole, which decays by emitting D0-branes via Hawking radiation. Note that the D0-branes and their BPS bound states are the only particles that can escape to infinity in the type IIA 0-brane decoupling geometry. To see this, consider the Born-Infeld effective action for a probe D0-brane in the background (1.1)

$$S_{D0} = T_{D0} \left[\int dt \ f^{-1} A^{1/2} \sqrt{1 + f A^{-2} \dot{r}^2} - \int dt \ f^{-1} \frac{1+A}{2} \right].$$
(1.4)

While this effective action a priori holds only in the supergravity regime, there is strong evidence that it in fact continues to hold at arbitrary large radial distance where the curvature is at string scale (while the string coupling goes to zero). This is presumably due to the supersymmetry preserved by the asymptotic geometry. Note that in the large r limit, the mass of the D0-brane cancels the potential energy, and the action reduces to that of a non-relativistic particle. The situation is in contrast to the Hawking radiation of black holes in global AdS where all emitted particles bounce back in finite time, making it possible for the black hole to be in equilibrium with a thermal bath. We conclude that the black hole in the 0-brane decoupling geometry is unstable via the emission of D0-branes. The Hawking decay rate of emitting a D0-brane is computed in appendix A. One finds

$$\Gamma \sim \frac{R_{10}}{N^{\frac{43}{14}} l_P^2} \left(\frac{r_0}{l_P}\right)^{\frac{359}{14}} e^{-\frac{2\pi}{7}\sqrt{\frac{2r_0^9}{15Nl_P^9}}},\tag{1.5}$$

where $l_P \equiv (2\pi g_s)^{1/3} l_s$ is the 11D Planck length and $R_{10} \equiv g_s l_s$ is the radius of the Mtheory circle. The exponential factor can be understood in terms of the chemical potential for the D0-brane charge. This formula is valid in the type IIA supergravity as well as in the M-theory regime where the lift of the black hole solution to 11 dimensions is thermodynamically stable. The latter is expected when $r_0 \gg N^{1/9} l_P$. This is also the regime where the decay rate is exponentially suppressed.

The metastable microstates of the D0 black hole should be counted, to leading order in the 1/N expansion, by the planar free energy of the matrix quantum mechanics. Even in the high temperature regime, where the black hole horizon spills into the stringy part of the bulk geometry, and where one naively expects the matrix quantum mechanics to be weakly coupled, one encounters infrared divergences in conventional perturbation theory. Similar IR divergences were previously encountered in the two-loop computation of scattering amplitudes on the Coulomb branch of the theory, and have been essentially ignored [30, 31]. The IR divergence can be cured (non-perturbatively) if one solves for the exact propagators using Schwinger-Dyson equations. This is the approach of [26-28], where the authors studied the self-energies of various fields, as well as the free energy of the theory at finite temperature, using the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations, which amounts to a mean-field approximation. In [26-28], the solutions of the self-energies were found numerically. While in a certain temperature range the result seemed to be consistent with the expectation from the gravity side, the numerical solution appears to break down below a certain temperature. From the gravity side, it is clear that (1.3) should be valid for $T/(g_{\rm YM}^2 N)^{1/3} \gg N^{-10/21}$, and thus the temperature can be taken to be arbitrarily small in the 't Hooft limit. It would be highly desirable to have an analytic understanding of the $T^{9/5}$ scaling of the low temperature free energy/entropy in the gauged quantum mechanics.

Though broken at finite temperature, supersymmetry plays an important role in the low temperature limit of the solutions to the Schwinger-Dyson equations. As pointed out in [26-28], in working with a truncated set of Schwinger-Dyson equations, either to a certain loop order or by including a certain finite subset of renormalized vertices, the equations must be manifestly supersymmetric in the zero temperature limit (though the solutions may be singular in the zero temperature limit) in order to have any chance of capturing the correct low temperature limiting behavior. In particular, the self-energies of the auxiliary fields in a supermultiplet must be included in the S-D equations. In a gauge theory, the solution to a truncated set of S-D equations will depend on the choice of gauge. While the solution to the exact S-D equations should clearly be independent of the gauge-fixing condition, in working with the truncated S-D equations, a manifestly (off-shell) supersymmetric gauge-fixing is necessary. The familiar Wess-Zumino gauge breaks all supersymmetries, and cannot be applied for our purpose, namely to extract the low temperature physics from the solutions to the truncated S-D equations. The authors of [26-28] considered a gauge fixing condition that preserves manifest $\mathcal{N}=2$ supersymmetries, out of the $\mathcal{N}=16$ supersymmetries. tries of BFSS matrix quantum mechanics. This leads to rather unconventional kinetic terms and fermion coupling. Alternatively, one may choose to work with gauge fixing conditions that manifest $\mathcal{N} = 4$ or $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supersymmetries. As a matter of fact, the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge fixing results in a rather complicated looking, fully nonlinear, action, and the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ gauge fixing based on harmonic superspace requires the inclusion of infinitely many auxiliary fields.

As a first step towards understanding the low temperature scaling behavior in BFSS matrix quantum mechanics, we study its truncation to the matter sector in the cases of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge fixing. These may also be thought of as supersymmetric deformations of the BFSS matrix quantum mechanics, by turning off the coupling of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ or $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge multiplet. For instance, the truncation to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ matter multiplets results in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ quantum mechanics with three matrix matter multiplets Φ^a and the cubic superpotential $W = -\frac{i\kappa}{3\sqrt{2}}\epsilon^{abc} \text{Tr} (\Phi^a \Phi^b \Phi^c)$. We refer to such a theory as an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino (matrix) quantum mechanics. The Schwinger-Dyson equations of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics have the particularly nice property that, going beyond the one-loop truncation, there are in fact no two-loop contributions, and there are no three-loop *planar* contributions (and the first planar correction to the one-loop S-D equations shows up at four-loop order). It is conceivable that the solution to the one-loop S-D equations in fact captures the correct scaling behavior of the planar free energy.

In this paper, we will find an analytic low temperature expansion of the solution to the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations for the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics. The key observation will be that loops containing the zero mode of the bosonic field ϕ^a dominate the contribution to the self-energies of the nonzero modes and the auxiliary zero mode. This allows for the solution of the nonzero mode and auxiliary zero mode self-energies in terms of the boson zero mode self-energy. The S-D equation for the boson zero mode self-energy, on the other hand, is nontrivial only if we work to the next-to-nextto-leading order contributions in the low temperature expansion. In the end we find a nontrivial scaling behavior of the boson zero mode self-energy, which controls the scaling of the self-energies of all other modes.

The matter multiplet of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics contains the following component fields, schematically: the boson ϕ , the fermion ψ , and the auxiliary field f. At finite temperature, i.e. in the Euclidean theory where the Euclidean time is compactified with periodicity $\beta = 1/T$, let the self-energies for the momentum modes of ϕ , f and ψ on the Euclidean time circle be σ_n , η_n , and h_r , respectively. Here n is an integer, whereas ris a half integer, reflecting the anti-periodic thermal boundary condition for the fermionic field. The self-energies for the nonzero modes are solved in terms of the boson zero mode σ_0 , with the following results:

$$\sigma_{n\neq0} = \frac{2\pi|n|}{\beta} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} \left[1 + \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}\right)^{3/2} \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\operatorname{sign}(n)C_n + \frac{3}{|n|}\right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2}),$$

$$\eta_{n\neq0} = \frac{\beta}{2\pi|n|} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} \left[1 + \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}\right)^{3/2} \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\operatorname{sign}(n)C_n - \frac{3}{|n|}\right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\beta^0), \quad (1.6)$$

$$h_r = \operatorname{sign}(r) \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} \left[1 + \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}\right)^{3/2} \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{sign}(r)C_r \right] + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}),$$

where $C_n = \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(n-k)/k$. Here we expressed the results in units where the dimensionful 't Hooft coupling $\kappa^2 N$ is set to 1. For the zero mode self-energies σ_0 and η_0 ,

of the boson ϕ and auxiliary field f, we will find

$$\eta_0 = \frac{1}{\beta \sigma_0^2} + \frac{\beta^2 \sigma_0}{24} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^0),$$

$$\sigma_0 = 2 \left(\frac{\pi}{3}\right)^{2/5} \beta^{-7/5} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2}).$$
(1.7)

Somewhat surprisingly, the low temperature expansion parameter is a fractional power of the temperature, namely $\beta^{-3/5}$. The planar free energy can then be computed in the mean-field approximation [26]. The result is

$$\beta F = \text{const} - \frac{5}{2} \left(\frac{\pi}{3}\right)^{6/5} N^2 N_f \beta^{-6/5} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}).$$
(1.8)

where N_f is the number of chiral superfields. Curiously, this result differs from the expected scaling of BFSS matrix quantum mechanics (1.3) by one power of the expansion parameter $\beta^{-3/5}$.

While we have not evaluated explicitly the four-loop correction to the planar Schwinger-Dyson equations and to the free energy, it appears that such higher-loop corrections could contribute at the *same* order as the one-loop contributions to the self-energies, in the low temperature limit, despite the fact that the naive dimensionless 't Hooft coupling is infinite in this limit. It is conceivable that the $T^{6/5}$ scaling is exact for the large N $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics with cubic superpotential, and that as we continuously deform the BFSS matrix quantum mechanics to the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino model by turning off the gauge coupling, the low temperature scaling behavior of the planar free energy interpolates between $T^{9/5}$ and $T^{6/5}$.

One might be puzzled by the following. Consider Model I, the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics with a single matter multiplet Φ and superpotential $W = \operatorname{Tr} \Phi^3$, and Model II, the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics with three matter multiplets X, Y, Z and superpotential W = Tr(XYZ). In the former case the spectrum is gapped, whereas in the latter case there is a continuum of scattering states due to flat directions. At finite N, the free energy of the former should be exponentially suppressed in the low temperature limit, whereas that of the latter diverges due to the continuous spectrum. How are these consistent with our claimed scaling as follows from the Schwinger-Dyson equations? Our result suggests that in Model I, even though the spectrum is gapped at finite N, in the large N limit the gap in the spectrum becomes very small, and if we take N to infinity first and then take the low temperature (or equivalently, strong 't Hooft coupling) limit, the free energy exhibits power scaling in the temperature. In Model II, on the other hand, there are *different* solutions to the Schwinger-Dyson equation. The scaling solution we described above, in particular, treats X, Y, Z on equal footing. There are other, singular, solutions that sets the self-energy of one of X, Y or Z to zero and giving infinite self-energies to the remaining two fields. These singular solutions describe the phase of the theory where one of the three fields acquires a large expectation value, while the other two fields are very massive, in contrast to the "unbroken phase" described by the scaling solution. We conjecture that these distinct phases exist in the infinite N limit, and the tunneling between different phases are exponentially suppressed in the large N limit.

When vector multiplets, along with ghosts in the supersymmetric gauge fixing, are included in the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations, it appears that our low temperature expansion scheme is spoiled. It is not clear to us whether the one-loop S-D equation captures the correct low temperature physics in this case. It is likely that loop corrections to the quartic and possibly higher vertices of the vector multiplet, which are not taken into account by the one-loop S-D equation, are needed to obtain a nontrivial low temperature scaling. We will nonetheless discuss preliminary results on the low temperature effective action of the vector multiplet by integrating out matter multiplets using the one-loop truncated S-D equations, as well as the high temperature expansion. The hope is that an improved S-D equation for vector multiplets will produce the $T^{9/5}$ scaling of BFSS matrix quantum mechanics. Perhaps more auxiliary fields need to be included in the S-D equations, or a gauge fixing that preserves more manifest supersymmetries is needed. This is left for the future.

We should also point out that there has been another attempt to understand the free energy scaling behavior from the matrix quantum mechanics in [32]. By looking at the weak coupling expansion for the effective Hamiltonian of the BFSS matrix model [30, 33], the author of [32] claimed, in the large N limit, an emergent scale $(g_{YM}^2 N)^{1/3} N^{-5/9}$ (at which the perturbative loop expansion also breaks down). This new energy scale serves as a finer gap than the 't Hooft scale among the low lying discrete states. Upon some additional assumptions on the spectrum, the author was able to reproduce the scaling in (1.3) by matching the mean energy density across $T \sim (g_{YM}^2 N)^{1/3} N^{-5/9}$. In contrary to the heuristic analysis in [32] which depends little on the detail dynamics of the matrix model, we shall attack the strong coupling problem directly at least within the matter sector. The temperature scaling will arise from a nontrivial solution to the (one-loop truncated) S-D equations where subtle cancellations between various supersymmetric partners are crucial.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we introduce the $\mathcal{N}=2$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics and derive its one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations. In section 3, we solve the Schwinger-Dyson equations in the low temperature limit using a "soft collinear" approximation scheme, and compute the mean-field free energy. We then investigate the corrections from higher-loop diagrams, and argue that although the temperature scalings appear to be spoiled by these corrections in the $\mathcal{N}=2$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics, they should remain valid in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ version of the theory in the planar limit. In section 4, we introduce the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics, and repeat the low temperature analysis. In section 5, we discuss how our results for the Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics can be extended to the full BFSS matrix theory by coupling it to a vector multiplet; in particular, we present the supersymmetric gauge-fixing conditions and write down the corresponding Schwinger-Dyson equations. We also discuss the various phases of solutions. In section 6, we explore the high temperature limit of BFSS. In section 7, we discuss future prospects of this program, including ways to write down the BFSS action that preserves more manifest supersymmetries, and applications of our methods to supersymmetric quantum field theories in other dimensions such as the two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ Landau-Ginzburg model. The Hawking decay rate of the black hole in the 0-brane decoupling geometry is derived in appendix A. Details on the convention of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superspace, the one-loop Schwinger-Dyson equations, and the low temperature expansion of the solutions are given in appendices B– F. Finally, the high temperature expansion of the Schwinger-Dyson equations for BFSS matrix theory is analyzed in appendix G.

2 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics

In the 1D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ language, the BFSS matrix quantum mechanics consists of one vector multiplet and seven matter multiplets. Its truncation to the matter sector is an $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics with the 7 matter multiplets interacting through a G_2 -invariant cubic superpotential. The one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations for this system have been studied numerically in [26]. In this section we recall the form of the Schwinger-Dyson equations for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Wess-Zumino model at finite temperature, and set up the notations for the analytic results in subsequent sections.

2.1 The action

Consider $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics with flavor symmetry G. Let the matter multiplets be in some N_f -dimensional representation of G, labeled by index a. We will assume that G has a rank-3 totally antisymmetric invariant tensor ϵ^{abc} normalized by

$$\epsilon^{abc}\epsilon^{abd} = c\delta^{cd} \tag{2.1}$$

in this N_f -dimensional representation. If G is the 7 of G_2 as for the matter sector of BFSS, then $N_f = 7$ and c = 3/2. The 1D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superspace is introduced in appendix B. In this language, the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics in Euclidean signature contains N_f real superfields¹

$$\Phi^a = \phi^a + i\psi^a_\alpha \theta_\alpha + if^a \theta^2, \qquad (2.2)$$

interacting through a cubic superpotential

$$W = -\frac{i\kappa}{6\sqrt{c}} \epsilon^{abc} \text{Tr} \left(\Phi^a [\Phi^b, \Phi^c]\right).$$
(2.3)

Here Φ^a are matrix superfields in the adjoint representation of $SU(N)^2$ and in flavor symmetry G. The coefficient for the superpotential is chosen so that the form of the Schwinger-Dyson equations will not depend on the choice of G (but the free energy will).

After integrating out the fermionic coordiantes, the action is³

$$S = \int d\tau \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \dot{\phi}^a \dot{\phi}^a + \frac{1}{2} \psi^a_{\alpha} \dot{\psi}^a_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} f^a f^a + \frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{c}} \epsilon^{abc} f^a [\phi^b, \phi^c] + \frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{c}} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \epsilon^{abc} \phi^a [\psi^b_{\alpha}, \psi^c_{\beta}] \right\},$$

$$(2.4)$$

¹The *i* in front of f gives the right sign for the kinetic term of f.

²This SU(N) becomes the color symmetry once we embed this theory into BFSS.

³We let $\{T^A\}$ be a basis for SU(N) such that Tr $(T^A T^B) = \delta^{AB}$, and write $\phi^a = \phi^{aA} T^A$.

where dot stands for Euclidean time derivative. The SUSY transformations are

$$[Q_{\alpha}, \phi] = -i\psi_{\alpha},$$

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, \psi_{\beta}\} = i\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}f + i\delta_{\alpha\beta}\dot{\phi},$$

$$[Q_{\alpha}, f] = -i\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\dot{\psi}_{\beta}.$$

(2.5)

2.2 Schwinger-Dyson equations

The perturbative field theoretic approach to a (classically) massless theory in one dimension suffers from infrared divergences. In many examples, such infrared divergences are cured non-perturbatively. A framework that improves the ordinary perturbation theory and naturally resolves the IR divergences is the Schwinger-Dyson equations. While the usual formulation of Schwinger-Dyson equations are a set of recursive integral equations that express exact correlation functions or 1PI vertices in terms of higher point vertices, such equations are often hard to solve due to the general momentum dependence in the exact vertices. In this paper, we will work with the equations that express the exact self-energies in terms of the integrals of exact propagators and tree-level vertices. We will make a truncation on the loop order of these equations, study the solutions to the truncated equations, and then discuss the validity of such truncations.

Starting from the action (2.4), the Schwinger-Dyson equations at finite temperature are formulated as follows. We compactify Euclidean time on a circle of circumference β , and expand the fields in their Kaluza-Klein modes along the Euclidean time circle⁴

$$\phi^{a} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\beta}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi^{a}_{n} e^{2\pi i n \tau/\beta},$$

$$\psi^{a}_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\beta}} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} \psi^{a}_{\alpha, r} e^{2\pi i r \tau/\beta},$$

$$f^{a} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\beta}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} f^{a}_{n} e^{2\pi i n \tau/\beta}.$$
(2.6)

The action (2.4) written in terms of these Kaluza-Klein modes becomes

$$S = \operatorname{Tr}\left\{\sum_{n} \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta}\right)^{2} \phi_{-n}^{a} \phi_{n}^{a} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{r} \frac{2\pi i r}{\beta} \psi_{\alpha,-r}^{a} \psi_{\alpha,r}^{a} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n} f_{-n}^{a} f_{n}^{a} + \frac{i\kappa}{2\sqrt{c\beta}} \sum_{n,k} \epsilon^{abc} f_{-n-k}^{a} \phi_{n}^{b} \phi_{k}^{c} + \frac{i\kappa}{2\sqrt{c\beta}} \sum_{r,s} \epsilon^{abc} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \phi_{-r-s}^{a} \psi_{\alpha,r}^{b} \psi_{\beta,s}^{c}\right\}.$$

$$(2.7)$$

Let us denote the exact propagators by

$$\langle \phi_n^a \phi_m^b \rangle \equiv \Delta_n \delta^{ab} \delta_{n,-m}, \langle \psi_{\alpha,r}^a \psi_{\beta,s}^b \rangle \equiv -ig_r \delta^{ab} \delta_{\alpha\beta} \delta_{r,-s}, \langle f_n^a f_m^b \rangle \equiv \epsilon_n \delta^{ab} \delta_{n,-m}.$$
 (2.8)

⁴Unless otherwise noted, throughout this paper n, k, ℓ are integral and r, s are half-integral.

Note that $\langle \phi f \rangle$ is prohibited by the following \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetry (R-parity) of the action (2.4):

$$\phi \to -\phi, \quad \psi_1 \to -\psi_1.$$
 (2.9)

Working in 't Hooft units where the dimensionful 't Hooft coupling $\kappa^2 N$ is set to 1, i.e., $(\kappa^2 N)^{1/3}\beta \to \beta$, the "one-loop truncated" Schwinger-Dyson equations are⁵ (see figure 1)

$$\frac{1}{\Delta_n} = \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta}\right)^2 + \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_k \Delta_k \epsilon_{n-k} + \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_r g_r g_{n-r},$$

$$\frac{1}{\epsilon_n} = 1 + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_k \Delta_k \Delta_{n-k},$$

$$\frac{1}{g_r} = \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_k \Delta_k g_{r-k}.$$
(2.10)

The terminology here requires some explanation. The equations (2.10) are the Schwinger-Dyson equations for the exact two-point functions, where the three- and higher-point functions are approximated by their bare values. We refer to (2.10) as the "one-loop truncated" Schwinger-Dyson equations. The higher loop corrections will be discussed in section 3.6. This approach is somewhere in between a fully non-perturbative treatment and perturbation theory, but the results clearly go beyond perturbation theory since the nontrivial solution for the self-energies cuts off the IR divergence that would invalidate the conventional perturbation theory.

Our convention for the self-energies σ_n , h_r , and η_n , for the boson ϕ , fermion ψ , and auxiliary field f respectively, is such that they are related to the exact propagators by

$$\Delta_n \equiv \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta})^2 + \sigma_n},$$

$$g_r \equiv \frac{1}{\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + h_r},$$

$$\epsilon_n \equiv \frac{1}{1 + \eta_n},$$
(2.11)

where $\sigma_{-n} = \sigma_n$, $h_{-r} = -h_r$, and $\eta_{-n} = \eta_n$. The Schwinger-Dyson equations (2.10), written in terms of the self-energies, are

$$\sigma_{n} = \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_{k} \frac{1}{\left[\left(\frac{2\pi k}{\beta}\right)^{2} + \sigma_{k} \right] \left[1 + \eta_{n-k} \right]} + \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{\left[\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + h_{r} \right] \left[\frac{2\pi (n-r)}{\beta} + h_{n-r} \right]},$$

$$\eta_{n} = \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{k} \frac{1}{\left[\left(\frac{2\pi k}{\beta}\right)^{2} + \sigma_{k} \right] \left[\left(\frac{2\pi (n-k)}{\beta}\right)^{2} + \sigma_{n-k} \right]},$$

$$h_{r} = \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_{k} \frac{1}{\left[\left(\frac{2\pi k}{\beta}\right)^{2} + \sigma_{k} \right] \left[\frac{2\pi (r-k)}{\beta} + h_{r-k} \right]}.$$
(2.12)

⁵The sign for the fermion loop is compensated by the factor of $(-i)^2$ from $\langle \psi^a_{\alpha,r} \psi^b_{\beta,s} \rangle \equiv -ig_r \delta^{ab} \delta_{\alpha\beta} \delta_{r,-s}$.



Figure 1. The one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations with bare cubic coupling. The solid, dashed, and double lines represent the boson propagator Δ_n , the auxiliary field propagator ϵ_n , and the fermion propagator g_r , respectively.

2.3 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY Ward identities

Although supersymmetry is broken at finite temperature, one expects supersymmetry to be "approximately" restored in the low temperature limit. This is subtle due to IR divergences, as the self-energies in the strict zero temperature limit are singular. Nonetheless, as shown later, the Ward identities we derive here assuming supersymmetry will hold approximately for the self-energies of the nonzero frequency modes of the fields in the low temperature limit. Such relations are useful in organizing the low temperature expansion of the solutions to the Schwinger-Dyson equations (2.12).

Naively, at strictly zero temperature, where the momentum (in Euclidean time) is continuous, we write the exact two-point functions (2.8) as

$$\langle \phi(p)\phi(-p)\rangle = \frac{1}{p^2 + \sigma(p)},$$

$$\langle \psi_{\alpha}(p)\psi_{\beta}(-p)\rangle = \frac{-i\delta_{\alpha\beta}}{p + h(p)},$$

$$\langle f(p)f(-p)\rangle = \frac{1}{1 + \eta(p)}.$$

(2.13)

If SUSY is not spontaneously broken, then

$$0 = \langle \{Q_{\alpha}, \phi(\tau)\psi_{\beta}(\tau')\}\rangle = -i\langle\psi_{\alpha}(\tau)\psi_{\beta}(\tau')\rangle + i\delta_{\alpha\beta}\langle\phi(\tau)\dot{\phi}(\tau')\rangle, \qquad (2.14)$$

where we used $\langle \phi f \rangle = 0$. Similarly we have

$$0 = \langle \{Q_{\alpha}, f(\tau)\psi_{\beta}(\tau')\}\rangle = -i\epsilon_{\alpha\gamma}\langle \dot{\psi}_{\gamma}(\tau)\psi_{\beta}(\tau')\rangle + i\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\langle f(\tau)f(\tau')\rangle.$$
(2.15)

In momentum space, (2.14) and (2.15) read

$$\sigma(p) = ph(p) = p^2 \eta(p). \tag{2.16}$$

At finite but low temperatures, if supersymmetry is only slightly broken, one may anticipate that there exists a continuous function s(p) such that

$$\sigma_{n} = s \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta}\right) \left[\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{<-1})\right],$$

$$h_{r} = s \left(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta}\right) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{<0})\right],$$

$$\eta_{n} = s \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta}\right) \left[\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{<-1})\right]^{-1}.$$

(2.17)

In particular, if we assume s(0) is finite, then one expects that σ_0 should be much smaller than $\sigma_{n\neq 0}$, and η_0 should be much larger than $\eta_{n\neq 0}$. This will indeed be the case. The separation of zero modes and nonzero modes is the key to the scaling ansatz (3.1) that will allow us to solve the Schwinger-Dyson equations at low temperatures.

3 The low temperature limit

3.1 A "soft-collinear" approximation

In the low temperature, or large β limit, we will demonstrate that the Schwinger-Dyson equations (2.12) admit solutions of the following leading order scaling in β (here the mode numbers n, r are assumed to be $\mathcal{O}(1)$)

$$\frac{\sigma_0 \sim \beta^{-7/5}, \quad \eta_0 \sim \beta^{9/5}}{\sigma_{n \neq 0} \sim \beta^{-4/5}, \quad \eta_{n \neq 0} \sim \beta^{6/5}, \quad h_r \sim \beta^{1/5}.$$
(3.1)

Note that the scaling of the zero modes σ_0 and η_0 are order $\beta^{-3/5}$ lower and higher, respectively, than their nonzero mode counterparts. This $\beta^{-3/5}$ turns out to be the appropriate expansion parameter for the Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics at low temperatures.

One key property of the ansatz (3.1) is that at large β the boson zero mode propagator $\Delta_0 \sim \beta^{7/5}$ dominates the loop sums on the right-hand-side of the Schwinger-Dyson equations (2.12). Hence, to leading order in $1/\beta$, the S-D equations reduce to simple algebraic expressions for the self-energies of the nonzero modes and for η_0 in terms of σ_0 . Once we have the leading order expressions, we can compute corrections in $1/\beta$ order by order. Finally, substituting these expressions into the S-D equation for σ_0 , we find an equation involving σ_0 only. If a solution for σ_0 with the assumed scaling exists, then we know that the scaling ansatz (3.1) is indeed consistent. The consistency of the ansatz is highly nontrivial, however, and as we will see require delicate cancelations. By a slight abuse of terminology, we refer to our ansatz as a "soft collinear" approximation, where we regard the nonzero modes as "hard" and zero modes as "soft".

3.2 Nonzero modes σ_n , η_n , h_r and the auxiliary zero mode η_0

In the following we implicitly take $n \neq 0$. Let us reorganize the Schwinger-Dyson equations (2.12) for the nonzero modes σ_n , η_n , and h_r and the auxiliary zero mode η_0 in the form

$$\sigma_n = \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \frac{1}{1+\eta_n} + \frac{2\pi n}{\beta} A_n,$$

$$\eta_n = \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta})^2 + \sigma_n} + \frac{\beta}{2\pi n} B_n,$$

$$h_r = \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \frac{1}{\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + h_r} + C_r,$$

$$\eta_0 = \frac{1}{\beta\sigma_0^2} + D,$$

(3.2)

where

$$A_{n} \equiv \frac{1}{\pi n} \left(\sum_{k \neq 0} \Delta_{k} \epsilon_{n-k} + \sum_{r} g_{r} g_{n-r} \right),$$

$$B_{n} \equiv \frac{2\pi n}{\beta^{2}} \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \Delta_{k} \Delta_{n-k},$$

$$C_{r} \equiv \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_{k \neq 0} \Delta_{k} g_{r-k},$$

$$D \equiv \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{k \neq 0} \Delta_{k} \Delta_{-k}$$
(3.3)

According to the scaling ansatz (3.1),

$$\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \frac{1}{1+\eta_n} \sim \beta^{-4/5}, \quad \frac{2\pi n}{\beta} A_n \sim \beta^{-7/5},$$

$$\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta})^2 + \sigma_n} \sim \beta^{6/5}, \quad \frac{\beta}{2\pi n} B_n \sim \beta^{3/5},$$

$$\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \frac{1}{\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + h_r} \sim \beta^{1/5}, \qquad C_r \sim \beta^{-2/5},$$

$$\frac{1}{\beta\sigma_0^2} \sim \beta^{9/5}, \qquad D \sim \beta^{3/5}.$$
(3.4)

Since the terms on the r.h.s. involving A_n , B_n , C_r , and D are subleading in $1/\beta$, the leading order Schwinger-Dyson equations (3.2) are simple algebraic equations as advertised earlier. Notice that because we expanded in $1/\beta$ while taking $n, r \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$, the loop sums where nand r range over $-\infty$ to ∞ become divergent and will require regularization.

The fermion self-energy h_r and the product $\sigma_n \eta_n$ can be directly read off

$$h_r = \operatorname{sign}(r) \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2/5}), \qquad (3.5)$$

$$\sigma_n \eta_n = \frac{2}{\beta \sigma_0} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1/5}), \qquad (3.6)$$

where sign(r) comes from the odd parity of h_r . To find σ_n and η_n individually, let

$$\sigma_n = \frac{2\pi n}{\beta} s_n (1+x_n),$$

$$\eta_n = \frac{\beta}{2\pi n} s_n (1+x_n)^{-1},$$
(3.7)

where

$$s_n \equiv \operatorname{sign}(n) \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta \sigma_0}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2/5}).$$
 (3.8)

If the approximate SUSY Ward identities (2.16) are to hold in the low temperature limit, then we expect x_n to scale with a negative power in β . In appendix D we solve for x_n directly from the Schwinger-Dyson equations, and find

$$x_n = \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{3}{2\pi|n|} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-6/5}) \sim \beta^{-3/5}, \tag{3.9}$$

in accordance with (2.16).

3.3 Boson zero mode σ_0

Let us examine the Schwinger-Dyson equation for the boson zero mode σ_0

$$\sigma_0 = \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0(1+\eta_0)} + \frac{2}{\beta} \left(\sum_{n\neq 0} \frac{1}{s_n^2} - \sum_r \frac{1}{h_r^2} \right) + \frac{2\pi}{\beta^2} \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-16/5}).$$
(3.10)

If one substitutes the leading order expressions for the other self-energies into the above equation, then each term becomes order $\beta^{-7/5}$, and one finds that the two sides exactly cancel. It turns out that the next order β^{-2} terms also cancel, and therefore the solution to σ_0 is determined at order $\beta^{-13/5}$. This requires expanding s_n and h_r to order β^{-1} and η_0 to order $\beta^{3/5}$ (each two orders of $\beta^{-3/5}$ down from the leading piece).

For the auxiliary zero mode η_0 , the relevant correction is given straightforwardly by D in (3.2), and we find

$$\eta_0 = \frac{1}{\beta\sigma_0^2} + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{\beta^2}{4\pi^2 n^2} \frac{1}{s_n^2 (1+x_n)^2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3/5}) = \frac{1}{\beta\sigma_0^2} + \frac{\beta^2 \sigma_0}{24} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^0).$$
(3.11)

For s_n and h_r , let us write

$$s_n = \operatorname{sign}(n) \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} + s_n^{(1)} + s_n^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}),$$

$$h_r = \operatorname{sign}(r) \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} + h_r^{(1)} + h_r^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}),$$
(3.12)

where $s_n^{(1)}$, $h_r^{(1)}$ are of order $\beta^{-2/5}$ and $s_n^{(2)}$, $h_r^{(2)}$ are of order β^{-1} . Next, define

$$g \equiv \sqrt{\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}}, \quad C_k \equiv \sum_{\ell \neq 0,k} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(\ell)\operatorname{sign}(k-\ell)}{\ell},$$
 (3.13)

where k can take both integral and half-integral values. The computation for $s_n^{(1)}$, $s_n^{(2)}$, $h_r^{(1)}$, and $h_r^{(2)}$ can be found in appendix E. The results are

$$\begin{split} s_n^{(1)} &= \frac{\beta \sigma_0}{4\pi} C_n + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}), \\ h_r^{(1)} &= \frac{\beta \sigma_0}{4\pi} C_r + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}), \\ s_n^{(2)} &= -\frac{\pi n}{\beta} + \operatorname{sign}(n) \frac{g^5}{8\pi^2} C_n^2 - \frac{g^5}{4\pi^2} \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(n-k)C_k + \operatorname{sign}(k)C_{n-k}}{k} \\ &\quad + \frac{g^5}{4\pi^2 n} \sum_{k \neq 0, 2n} (-)^k \operatorname{sign}\left(n - \frac{k}{2}\right) C_{k/2} - \frac{g^2}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)\operatorname{sign}(n-k)x_k}{k} \\ &\quad + \frac{g^5}{2\pi^2 n^2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}), \\ h_r^{(2)} &= -\frac{\pi r}{\beta} + \operatorname{sign}(r) \frac{g^5}{8\pi^2} C_r^2 - \frac{g^5}{4\pi^2} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(r-k)C_k + \operatorname{sign}(k)C_{r-k}}{k} \\ &\quad - \frac{g^2}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)\operatorname{sign}(r-k)x_k}{k} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}). \end{split}$$

The relevant contribution to the Schwinger-Dyson equation for σ_0 is

$$\sum_{n \neq 0} s_n^{-2} - \sum_r h_r^{-2} = -g^2 \left(1 + \frac{\pi g}{2\beta} + \frac{5g^6}{6} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-11/5}).$$
(3.15)

Using (3.11) and (3.15), the equation for σ_0 becomes

$$\sigma_0 = \sigma_0 + \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{2}} \sigma_0^{3/2} \beta^{-1/2} - \frac{3}{16} \beta^3 \sigma_0^4 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-16/5}), \qquad (3.16)$$

from which we obtain

$$\sigma_0 = 2\left(\frac{\pi}{3}\right)^{\frac{2}{5}}\beta^{-\frac{7}{5}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2}). \tag{3.17}$$

To summarize, we solved the Schwinger-Dyson equations and obtained the self-energies at low temperatures. Consistency of the ansatz (3.1) is thus verified. Note that although we solved s_n to second order in (3.14), x_n is only computed to zeroth order in (3.9), so according to (3.7) we only have first order expressions for σ_n and η_n . Fortunately, for the purpose of solving σ_0 and later on computing the free energy, we only need s_n to second order but not σ_n and η_n separately.

3.4 Continuum limit

Before computing the free energy, let us note the following property of our solution of selfenergies. In terms of the low temperature expansion parameter g, the boson self-energies are

$$\sigma_{0} = \frac{2g^{2}}{\beta},$$

$$\sigma_{n} = \frac{2\pi |n|}{g\beta} \left(1 + \frac{3g^{3}}{2\pi |n|}\right) \left(1 + \frac{g^{3}|C_{n}|}{2\pi}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2}),$$
(3.18)

where the first equation is the definition of g. If we write $p = 2\pi n/\beta$, then the self-enengy for the nonzero modes can be written as

$$\sigma(p) = \frac{|p|}{g} \left(1 + \frac{3g^3}{\beta |p|} \right) \left[1 + \frac{g^3}{\beta} \left(2\sum_{k=1}^{|n|} \frac{\beta}{2\pi k} - \frac{1}{|p|} \right) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2}) = \frac{|p|}{g} \left[1 + \frac{2g^3}{\beta |p|} + \frac{g^3}{\pi} HN(\frac{\beta |p|}{2\pi}) + \mathcal{O}(g^6) \right],$$
(3.19)

where HN(x) is the analytic continuation of the harmonic function. Since HN(x) is regular at x = 0, taking $p \to 0$ gives

$$\sigma(0) = \frac{2g^2}{\beta} + \mathcal{O}(g^5).$$
(3.20)

Curiously, $\sigma(0)$ coincides with σ_0 . In other words, the zero mode self-energy σ_0 could be regarded as the $p \to 0$ limit of the self-energy function $\sigma(p)$ of a continuous momentum p. This fact may be useful in applying the Schwinger-Dyson equation to Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics coupled to gauge fields, where a continuous distribution of the eigenvalues of the holonomy matrix along the thermal circle is involved.

3.5 Free energy

Having obtained the propagators from the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equation, we can now compute the free energy in the mean-field approximation [26]. Let us define a quadratic Fourier space "trial action" S_0 , whose propagators are solutions to the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations:

$$S_{0} = \text{Tr} \left\{ \sum_{n} \frac{\phi_{n}^{a} \phi_{-n}^{a}}{2\Delta_{n}} + i \sum_{r} \frac{\psi_{\alpha,r}^{a} \psi_{\alpha,-r}^{a}}{2g_{r}} + \sum_{n} \frac{f_{n}^{a} f_{-n}^{a}}{2\epsilon_{n}} \right\}.$$
 (3.21)

Next we write the true action as $S = S_2 + S_3$, where S_2 and S_3 consist of the quadratic and cubic terms, respectively. Then an approximate free energy is given by

$$\beta F = \beta F_0 + \langle S_2 - S_0 \rangle_0 - \frac{1}{2} \langle S_3^2 \rangle_0.$$
(3.22)

The subscript 0 here indicates that the expectation value is taken with respect the trial action, i.e.,

$$\langle \cdots \rangle_0 \equiv \int D\phi D\psi Df \ e^{-S_0} \cdots$$
 (3.23)

In the planar limit, and dropping an overall factor of $N^2 N_f$, we have

$$\beta F_0 = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_n \ln \Delta_n - \frac{1}{2} \sum_n \ln \epsilon_n + \frac{1}{2} \sum_r \ln g_r^2,$$

$$\langle S_2 - S_0 \rangle_0 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_n \left[\left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} \right)^2 \Delta_n - 1 \right] + \frac{1}{2} \sum_n (\epsilon_n - 1) - \sum_r \left(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} g_r - 1 \right), \quad (3.24)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \langle S_3^2 \rangle_0 = \frac{1}{2\beta} \sum_{m,k} \Delta_m \Delta_k \epsilon_{m+k} + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{r,s} g_r g_s \Delta_{r+s}.$$

In appendix F, we compute these contributions to the free energy using solutions computed in section 3.3, but without plugging in the explicit value of σ_0 in (3.17). The results are

$$\beta F_{0} = \operatorname{const} + g \left(\sum_{n \neq 0} s_{|n|}^{(2)} - \sum_{r} h_{|r|}^{(2)} \right) + \frac{4\pi g}{\beta} \left(\sum_{n > 0} n - \sum_{r > 0} r \right) + \frac{5}{192} (\beta \sigma_{0})^{3} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}), \langle S_{2} - S_{0} \rangle_{0} = 1 - \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{\sigma_{0}}{\beta} \right)^{1/2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}), - \frac{1}{2} \langle S_{3}^{2} \rangle_{0} = -g \left(\sum_{n \neq 0} s_{|n|}^{(2)} - \sum_{r} h_{|r|}^{(2)} \right) - \frac{4\pi g}{\beta} \left(\sum_{n > 0} n - \sum_{r > 0} r \right) + \frac{1}{192} (\beta \sigma_{0})^{3} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}).$$
(3.25)

We see that the potentially divergent sums cancel between βF_0 and $-\frac{1}{2}\langle S_3^2\rangle_0$, and thus

$$\beta F = \text{const} + \frac{1}{32} (\beta \sigma_0)^3 - \frac{\pi}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{\sigma_0}{\beta}\right)^{1/2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}).$$
(3.26)

In [26], the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations are obtained by extremizing the mean-field free energy (3.22) with respect to the propagators in the trial action (3.21) (which is why it was called the trial action in the first place). As a consistency check, we should find that our solution for σ_0 (3.17) minimizes the free energy (3.26). This is indeed the case as one can easily verify. Replacing σ_0 by its explicit solution (3.17), we get

$$\beta F = \text{const} - \frac{5}{4} \left(\frac{\pi}{3}\right)^{6/5} N^2 N_f \beta^{-6/5} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}), \qquad (3.27)$$

where we have restored the overall $N^2 N_f$ factor.

To conclude, we solved the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations in the large β limit, and found that the non-constant part of βF has $\beta^{-6/5}$ scaling. We have also confirmed it numerically, including the coefficient in front of $\beta^{-6/5}$. For comparison, the numerical analysis of [26] by fitting up to $\beta \simeq 28$ gave the scaling $\sim \beta^{-1.09}$. In fact, a careful inspection of various terms in the σ_0 S-D equation shows that the correct $\beta^{-1.2}$ low temperature scaling is visible only when β is greater than ~ 100 (in the normalization convention of [26]).

3.6 Higher loop corrections

A priori, there seems to be no reason to expect the one-loop truncation of the Schwinger-Dyson equations to capture the correct low temperature physics, since the dimensionless 't Hooft coupling is strong in the low temperature limit. Naively, one may expect two and higher loop contributions to the S-D equations to overwhelm the one-loop contribution and



Figure 2. The two-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations with bare cubic coupling. The solid, dashed, and double lines represent the boson propagator Δ_n , the auxiliary field propagator ϵ_n , and the fermion propagator g_r , respectively.

completely destroy the scaling behavior we found. However, due to the peculiar scaling behavior of the propagators, the effective expansion parameter in the low temperature limit is not the 't Hooft coupling. If we proceed with our ansatz for the one-loop self-energies, the question is whether the correction to the S-D equation for σ_0 respects the scaling ansatz.

Let us look at the two-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations, which are shown diagrammatically in figure 2. As it turns out, the two-loop diagrams contribute an additional $term^6$

$$\frac{5\sigma_0}{\pi} \left(\frac{1}{1+\sqrt{3}} - \frac{1}{1+\sqrt{5}} \right) \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2} \right)^{3/2} \ln \frac{\beta}{\sigma_0} \sim \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2} \ln \beta)$$
(3.28)

to the r.h.s. of the Schwinger-Dyson equation for σ_0 (3.16). This is, up to a logarithmic factor, the same as the next-to-leading order term in the one-loop contribution. However, as seen earlier, the scaling solution to the one-loop S-D equations requires complete cancelation at next-to-leading order, and $\sigma_0 \sim \beta^{-7/5}$ would be determined only at next-tonext-to-leading order. This is now spoiled by the two-loop contribution. This means that either the ansatz (3.1) is incorrect, or that x_n is at least of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ which invalidates the approximate SUSY Ward identities (2.17). So it appears that the two-loop truncated S-D equation of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics does not give rise to a simple scaling solution in the low temperature limit.

Inclusion of three- and higher-loop diagrams would give corrections that even overwhelm the one-loop leading order terms in the low temperature limit, and hence completely invalidates the ansatz (3.1). Figure 3 shows two diagrams appearing in the pertubative expansion of the exact three-point vertex that are larger than their tree-level counterparts.

⁶The log comes from cutting off the harmonic sum at $\sqrt{\beta/\sigma_0}$.



Figure 3. Diagrams that appear in the pertubative expansion of the exact three-point vertex.

Diagram (a) does not exist at tree-level, and Diagram (b) is of order

$$\beta^{-3/2} (\Delta_0)^2 \epsilon_n \sim \beta^{-3/2} (\beta^{7/5})^2 \beta^{-6/5} \sim \beta^{-1/2} \beta^{3/5}, \qquad (3.29)$$

which is $\beta^{3/5}$ larger than tree-level ($\beta^{-1/2}$). It is possible that a scaling behavior of the type we found still holds in the full theory at large N,⁷ but if so, an alternative truncation of the Schwinger-Dyson equation would be needed to reveal the correct low temperature scaling beyond the one-loop result.

4 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics

The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics, whose one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations take an identical form as those of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theory, on the other hand does not receive two-loop contributions, nor planar three-loop contributions. Moreover, the perturbative expansion of the exact three-point vertex only contains diagrams that are at most of the same order as the leading order at one-loop. It is therefore conceivable that one-loop truncated S-D equations serve as a better approximation of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ model. An $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics can also be obtained as a truncation (or deformation) of the BFSS matrix model. In the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ language, the BFSS matrix model consists of one vector multiplet and three chiral multiplets,⁸ with an SU(3) invariant cubic potential.

4.1 Action, Schwinger-Dyson equations, and free energy

Consider an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics with a flavor symmetry group G. Suppose the chiral multiplets are in an N_f -dimensional representation of G, governed by a cubic superpotential of the same form as in explained at the beginning of section 2.1 (except that the real $\mathcal{N} = 2$ matter multiplets are now replaced by the holomorphic $\mathcal{N} = 4$ chiral multiplets). For the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ WZ model coming from the matter sector of BFSS, G = SU(3) and $N_f = 3$, c = 2. Our conventions for the 1D $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superspace are defined in appendix C. We have N_f chiral superfields

$$\Phi^a = \phi^a(y) + \sqrt{2}\psi^a_\alpha(y)\theta^\alpha + if^a(y)\theta^2 \tag{4.1}$$

⁷We will comment on the relevance of the large N, i.e. planar, limit in the next section.

⁸Since 1D $\mathcal{N} = 4$ is the dimensional reduction of 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$, we name the supermultiplets using the 4D language.

in the adjoint representation of SU(N) and in the fundamental representation of the flavor symmetry G. The superpotential is given by

$$W = -\frac{i}{6\sqrt{c}}\kappa\epsilon^{abc} \text{Tr} \left(\Phi^a[\Phi^b, \Phi^c]\right), \qquad (4.2)$$

and the action is

$$S = \int d\tau \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \overline{\phi}^{a} \dot{\phi}^{a} + \overline{\psi}^{a\alpha} \dot{\psi}^{a}_{\alpha} + \overline{f}^{a} f^{a} + \left(\frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{c}} \epsilon^{abc} f^{a} [\phi^{b}, \phi^{c}] + \frac{i\kappa}{2\sqrt{c}} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} \epsilon^{abc} \phi^{a} [\psi^{b}_{\alpha}, \psi^{c}_{\beta}] + \text{h.c.} \right) \right\}.$$

$$(4.3)$$

Let us write the finite temperature propagators in momentum (frequency) space as

$$\begin{split} \langle \bar{\phi}^a_n \phi^b_m \rangle &\equiv \Delta_n \delta^{ab} \delta_{n,-m}, \\ \langle \bar{\psi}^{a\alpha}_r \psi^b_{\beta,s} \rangle &\equiv -ig_r \delta^{ab} \delta^\alpha_\beta \delta_{r,-s}, \\ \langle \bar{f}^a_n f^b_m \rangle &\equiv \epsilon_n \delta^{ab} \delta_{n,-m} \end{split}$$
(4.4)

The self-energies are defined as in (2.11). The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SUSY Ward identities, given in (C.24), take an identical form as the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ identities (2.16). We have normalized the coupling constant κ in (4.3) such that the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations are identical to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ ones (2.12), whose solution is given in section 3.3.

The free energy can also be computed to be

$$\beta F = \text{const} - \frac{5}{2} \left(\frac{\pi}{3}\right)^{6/5} N^2 N_f \beta^{-6/5} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}).$$
(4.5)

which is twice that of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ free energy (3.27) because the fields are now complex. To restore the dependence on κ^2 , one replaces β by the dimensionless combination $\beta(\kappa^2 N)^{1/3}$.

4.2 Higher loops

A key difference between the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics is the holomorphicity of the superpotential. In the Feynman diagrams of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ model, propagators carry arrows since the fields are complex, and vertices have either all three propagators pointing inwards or all pointing outwards; in other words, the Feynman diagrams are bipartite graphs. It is not hard to see that no two-loop or *planar* three-loop diagrams can appear on the r.h.s. of the Schwinger-Dyson equations for the self-energies. Thus without taking the planar limit, the first nontrivial corrections come from non-planar three-loop diagrams, and in the planar limit, the first nontrivial corrections come from fourloop diagrams. Examples of these non-planar three-loop and planar four-loop diagrams are shown in figure 4.

Although we have not explicitly evaluated the four-loop contributions and its effect on the scaling solution in the low temperature limit, a naive counting of powers of propagators of zero modes versus nonzero modes based on the one-loop scaling ansatz suggests that the higher loop contributions are of the same order as the one-loop contribution. While such



Figure 4. Corrections to the auxiliary self-energy η_n from (a) a non-planar three-loop diagram and (b) a planar four-loop diagram.



Figure 5. A leading order correction to the fermion self-energy h_r from a planar *L*-loop diagram (*L* has to be even). There are *L* boson zero mode propagators (solid line).

contributions are expected to correct the coefficient of the self-energies and the free energy, it is conceivable that the scaling behavior found in the solution to the one-loop truncated equations continue to hold when all-loop contributions are included, at the planar level. The large N limit is potentially important here, in order for the loop expansion in the Schwinger-Dyson equation to converge. At L-loop order, there are roughly $L! \mathcal{O}(C^L)$ diagrams that contribute to the Schwinger-Dyson equations at leading order in $1/\beta$, but only $\mathcal{O}(C'^L)$ planar diagrams that do so, where C and C' are some constants [34]. For example, figure 5 shows an L-loop correction to the fermion self-energy h_r . Assuming the scalings in (3.1), the scaling of this diagram is

$$\beta^{-L} g_r^{L-1} \Delta_0^L g_s^L \sim \beta^{-L} \beta^{(-L+1)/5} \beta^{7L/5} \beta^{-L/5} \sim \beta^{1/5}, \tag{4.6}$$

which indeed is the leading order in the Schwinger-Dyson equation for h_r . There are two such planar diagrams, coming from the two (alternating) assignments of the R-symmetry index $\alpha = 1, 2$ at the vertices in the fermion loop. On the other hand, there are 2(L/2)!(L/2-1)! non-planar diagrams, where the extra (L/2)!(L/2-1)! comes from inequivalent permutations among the boson propagators. While summing over all non-planar diagrams gives an asymptotic series, restricting to planar diagrams may give rise to a convergent sum.

We conjecture that the $\beta^{-6/5}$ -scaling of the free energy is preserved to all loop orders for the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics in the planar limit, with only the

coefficient to be corrected. Further, it is possible that such scaling behavior holds when perturbative 1/N corrections are included as well, and is only violated by non-perturbative effects in 1/N. One reason to anticipate this is the existence of exponentially long lived metastable states in BFSS matrix quantum mechanics, which dominate the thermodyamics as predicted by the gravity dual. As explained in the introduction section, the scaling behavior cannot possibly hold for the exact free energy in the general Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics at finite N: depending on the precise matter content and the form of the superpotential, the model could be either gapped, in which case the free energy is exponentially suppressed in the very low temperature limit (for fixed N), or infinite, when there is a moduli space (flat directions of the superpotential). Nonetheless, in the infinite N limit, we expect that there is at least a phase of the theory in which the free energy exhibits the nontrivial power scaling in the temperature, as we found from the one-loop Schwinger-Dyson equation. In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theories where the superpotential is such that the spectrum is gapped at finite N, we expect a near-continuum is developed in the large N limit, and if we first take $N \to \infty$, and then take the temperature to be small in 't Hooft units, the free energy should exhibit the scaling behavior. In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ theories where the superpotential has flat directions, there are alternative, and singular, solutions to the Schwinger-Dyson equation, where the self-energies of the bosonic fields corresponding to the flat directions are set to zero, while the self-energies of the fields along the non-flat directions diverge. Such singular solutions may be regularized by introducing an IR regulator that cuts off the volume divergence in the target space. In such theories, at infinite N, we expect our scaling solution to describe an "unbroken" phase (the flavor group is unbroken), as opposed to the "broken" phase describing the flat directions of the potential. The different phases correspond to different solutions to the Schwinger-Dyson equations.

5 Towards the low temperature expansion of BFSS

In the previous sections we have studied the low temperature expansion of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ and $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics. To extend our results for the Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics to BFSS matrix theory, we need to couple the vector multiplet to it and perform the appropriate supersymmetric gauge fixing, which also introduces the ghost multiplet. In this section we discuss some preliminary results toward understanding the planar free energy of BFSS.

5.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixed BFSS

The BFSS action can be decomposed into one $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet Γ_{α} plus seven matter multiplets Φ^a , $a = 1, \dots, 7$ in the fundamental representation of the G_2 flavor symmetry,

$$S_{\text{vec}} + S_{\text{matter}} = \frac{1}{g_{\text{YM}}^2} \int d\tau d^2 \theta \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ -\frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{i}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \right) \nabla_\alpha \mathcal{F}^i \nabla_\beta \mathcal{F}^i \right\} + \int d\tau d^2 \theta \operatorname{Tr} \left(-\frac{i}{4} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \nabla_\alpha \Phi^a \nabla_\beta \Phi^a - \frac{ig_{\text{YM}}}{3} \epsilon^{abc} \Phi^a [\Phi^b, \Phi^c] \right),$$
(5.1)

where \mathcal{F}^i is the field-strength superfield for the real connection superfield Γ_{α} . See appendix **B** for our notations.

The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixing condition is

$$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} D_{\alpha} \Gamma_{\beta} = 0, \tag{5.2}$$

If we expand the real connection superfield Γ_{α} as

$$\Gamma_{\alpha} = \chi_{\alpha} + iA_0\theta_{\alpha} + X^i\gamma^i_{\alpha\beta}\theta_{\beta} + d\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\theta_{\beta} + 2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\lambda_{\beta}\theta^2.$$
(5.3)

Eq. (5.2) becomes

$$\dot{A}_0 = 0, \quad d = 0, \quad \lambda_\alpha = \frac{\imath}{2} \dot{\chi}_\alpha.$$
 (5.4)

The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixing introduces a ghost multiplet

$$C = \alpha + \beta_{\alpha}\theta_{\alpha} + i\gamma\theta^2 \tag{5.5}$$

with α and γ complex fermonic fields and β_{α} a complex bosonic field. The ghost action is

$$S_{\text{ghost}} = \int d\tau d\theta^2 \, \text{Tr} \left\{ \frac{i}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} D_{\alpha} \bar{C} \nabla_{\beta} C \right\}.$$
(5.6)

Eq. (5.1) together with (5.6) gives the complete BFSS action in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge (5.2).

5.2 The $\mathcal{N} = 2$ ghost determinant

In the usual Wess-Zumino gauge-fixing, which breaks all supersymmetries, the eigenvalues of the zero mode of A_0 have the 2π periodicity coming from the large gauge transformation. Or equivalently, the eigenvalues of the holonomy matrix $U = \exp(\oint d\tau A_0)$ are gauge invariant. However, there is no such periodicity for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixing. To see this, let us note the coupling between X^i , β_{α} , and the gauge field A_0 in the BFSS action,

$$S_{\text{vec}} \ni (\partial_{\tau} X^{i} + i[A_{0}, X^{i}])^{2},$$

$$S_{\text{ghost}} \ni \bar{\beta}_{\alpha} \left(\dot{\beta}_{\alpha} + \frac{i}{2} [A_{0}, \beta_{\alpha}] \right) + \frac{1}{2} \gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta} \bar{\beta}_{\alpha} [X^{i}, \beta_{\beta}],$$
(5.7)

where $\gamma^1 = \sigma_1, \gamma^2 = \sigma_3$. Note the curious 1/2 factor in the coupling between the β -ghost and the gauge field. Suppose we shift one of the eigenvalues of A_0 by 4π , then this can be undone by shifting the momentum modes of X^i and β_{α} by 2 and 1, respectively. However, the coupling between X^i and β_{α} is not invariant under this shift, so the 1/2 factor in the gauge coupling of β_{α} completely destroys the periodicity of the eigenvalues of A_0 .

In fact, the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge condition (5.2), (5.4) leaves no residual large gauge transformations (except for the constant gauge rotation). First consider the zero temperature case. Recall the infinitesimal $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge transformations form appendix A.2.1, generated by $\Lambda = \Omega + i\omega_{\alpha}\theta_{\alpha} + W\theta^2$. The ones that preserve the gauge condition (5.2) obey

$$0 = \frac{d}{d\tau} \left(\dot{\Omega} + i[A_0, \Omega] + \frac{i}{2} \{ \chi_\alpha, \omega_\alpha \} \right),$$

$$0 = -W - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \{ \chi_\alpha, \omega_\beta \},$$

$$0 = \dot{\omega}_\alpha + \frac{i}{2} [A_0, \omega_\alpha] + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} [\chi_\beta, W] - [\lambda_\alpha, \Omega] + \frac{i}{2} \frac{d}{d\tau} [\chi_\alpha, \Omega] - \frac{1}{2} \gamma^i_{\alpha\beta} [X^i, \omega_\beta].$$

(5.8)

The last equation can also be written as

$$0 = \dot{\omega}_{\alpha} + \frac{i}{2} [A_0, \omega_{\alpha}] + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} [\chi_{\beta}, W] + \frac{i}{2} [\chi_{\alpha}, \dot{\Omega}] - \frac{1}{2} \gamma^i_{\alpha\beta} [X^i, \omega_{\beta}].$$
(5.9)

For generic χ_{α} , these conditions are satisfied only if $\omega_{\alpha} = 0$, W = 0, and $\dot{\Omega} = 0$. Therefore, the residual unfixed gauge transformations are constant bosonic gauge rotations. This is in contrast with the non-supersymmetric gauge fixing (Wess-Zumino gauge together with $\dot{A}_0 = 0$) where Ω can be linear in time τ , provided that it also commutes with A_0 . In the finite temperature case, the finite gauge transformations must be such that the bosonic components of e^{Λ} is periodic on the Euclidean time circle while the fermionic components are anti-periodic. While in the case of non-supersymmetric gauge fixing, there are residual large gauge transformations of the form $e^{i\zeta\tau}$ with $[A_0, \zeta] = 0$ and $e^{i\beta\zeta} = 1$, in the case of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge fixing the only residual gauge transformations are e^{Ω} with constant bosonic Ω . Therefore, in the latter case, the eigenvalues of A_0 are not periodically identified, and in the path integral we must integrate over all range of A_0 .

If we set χ_{α} to zero, the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ ghost determinant as a functional of (constant) A_0 and X^i is

$$\frac{\det'(\partial_{\tau} + i[A_0, \cdot])}{\det\left((\partial_{\tau} + \frac{i}{2}[A_0, \cdot])\delta_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^i_{\alpha\beta}[X^i, \cdot]\right)}.$$
(5.10)

As already mentioned, if we further restrict to $X^i = 0$, this ghost determinant is invariant under the shift of eigenvalues of βA_0 by 4π , but not by 2π . The path integral measure in A_0 can be written in terms of the integration over its eigenvalues α_j $(j = 1, 2, \dots, N)$ as

$$\int \prod_{i=1}^{N} d\alpha_i \prod_{i < j} \frac{\sin^2(\alpha_{ij}/2)}{\cos^4(\alpha_{ij}/4)}.$$
(5.11)

In the large N limit, in terms of the eigenvalue distribution function $\rho(\alpha)$ (whose integral is normalized to 1), the effective potential for α due to the ghost determinant is (when χ_{α} and X^i are restricted to zero) N^2 times

$$\frac{1}{2} \int d\alpha d\alpha' \rho(\alpha) \rho(\alpha') \left[-\ln \sin^2 \left(\frac{\alpha - \alpha'}{2} \right) + 2\ln \cos^2 \left(\frac{\alpha - \alpha'}{4} \right) \right] \\ = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\rho_n^2}{n} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n \rho_{n/2}^2}{n} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho_{n+\frac{1}{2}}^2}{n + \frac{1}{2}},$$
(5.12)

where

$$\rho_n \equiv \int d\alpha \rho(\alpha) \cos(n\alpha). \tag{5.13}$$

Note that the coupling of matter multiplets to the vector multiplet still respects the shift of βA_0 by 2π , and consequently, the effective action due to integrating out matter multiplets should depend only on ρ_n for integer n and not $\rho_{n+\frac{1}{2}}$. To minimize the effective action, one would set $\rho_{n+\frac{1}{2}}$ to zero for all integer n, and effectively the eigenvalues no longer repel one another. This is rather surprising. Let us note cautiously, however, that we have essentially ignored the scalar X^i and fermion χ_{α} in the vector multiplet, in the above discussion. Integrating them out could have important consequences on the effective action of A_0 .

5.3 The free energy

To obtain the free energy for BFSS, one needs to incorporate the vector sector in a consistent manner. For example, one could try to derive the effective action for the vector multiplet by integrating out the matter multiplets, using the solutions to the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations of the Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics, around a certain background of A_0 . It turns out that the Schwinger-Dyson equations are not particularly useful in solving the vector sector with the effective potential $V(A_0)$ generated by the matter sector. The difficulty lies in that, the soft collinear approximation doesn't hold for the vector and ghost multiplet. Nonetheless, we can infer some properties of $V(A_0)$ from our results.

Assuming that the matter sector has the same scaling behavior as in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics, integrating out the matter sector to leading order in β^{-1} generates an effective mass term for the vector multiplet

$$m_V^2 \int d\tau \, \text{Tr} \left(A_0^2 + (X^i)^2 + \chi_\alpha \dot{\chi}_\alpha \right), \quad m_V^2 \approx \frac{1}{\beta \sigma_0} \sim \beta^{2/5}.$$
 (5.14)

In the more familiar case of non-supersymmetric gauge fixing, while typically the effective potential for A_0 drives the eigenvalues of A_0 toward the origin, there is a competing repelling effect between the eigenvalues due to the ghost determinant (or the measure in the integration over the eigenvalues). Naively, the effective mass m_V would be too small to overcome the repelling of the eigenvalues. However, as seen in the previous subsection, in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge fixed path integral, the eigenvalues of A_0 in fact do not repel, as far as the coupling to matter multiplets is concerned, as the latter only knows about the eigenvalues of A_0 up to shift by $2\pi/\beta$. It then seems plausible that the free energy of the vector multiplet coupled to matter multiplets is dominated by the contribution from the matter multiplets alone, with the vector multiplet turned off. If this is the case, the free energy of BFSS matrix quantum mechanics would have the same low temperature scaling as the truncated Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics, and we would have $\beta F \sim -CT^{6/5}$. We do not know the source of the discrepancy between this 6/5 scaling exponent and the 9/5 as predicted from the gravity dual. Clearly, a better understanding of the dynamics of the gauge multiplet, through perhaps a better set of truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations that do capture the correct low temperature behavior, is needed.

Let us also note that, unlike the typical large N gauged matrix models with adjoint matter, where one expects a Gross-Witten-Wadia phase transition [35, 36] going from high temperatures to low temperatures, such a transition should be absent in the planar limit of BFSS matrix quantum mechanics, because there is no Hawking-Page transition of the D0 black hole in the gravity dual, for temperatures of order 1 in units of the 't Hooft coupling.

Previously, the authors of [26–28] studied the Schwinger-Dyson equations of this $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixed BFSS model (presented in appendix B.4), and produced numerical results for the free energy. A $\beta F \sim \beta^{-1.7}$ scaling was found there, which appeared to be close to the $\beta^{-1.8}$ predicted by the dual black hole. However, this scaling was obtained by fitting the numerical results within the inverse temperature range $1 < \beta < 4$. If one modifies the fitting range to, say, $0.25 < \beta < 4$, the result already changes drastically. In addition, the numerical

break down at $\beta \sim 6$, essentially due to the ghost multiplet. In fact, the Schwinger-Dyson equations for just the pure gauge system (B.57), (B.56) do not admit a real solution due to the negative signs in the equations for Π_n^G and Σ_r^G . When $\beta > 6$, the terms from coupling to matter become smaller than the pure gauge terms, and it appears that no real solution exists in this regime. Further, it is unclear to us why [27, 28] treated the gauge field as a holonomy matrix model after gauge-fixing and including the ghosts in the S-D equations: such a treatment would seem to double-count the ghost determinant. Though, this doublecounting turns out to have little effect on the numerical result for the free energy computed from the S-D equations in the temperature range considered in [27, 28].

5.4 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge-fixing

As mentioned before, the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino matrix quantum mechanics with SU(3) flavor can be regarded as a deformation of BFSS. In $\mathcal{N} = 4$ language, the BFSS action can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{BFSS} = \operatorname{Tr} \left[\left. \left(-\frac{1}{4g_{YM}^2} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} W_{\alpha} W_{\beta} \right|_F + h.c. \right) + \bar{\Phi}^a e^{-2V} \Phi^a \right|_D + \left(-\frac{i}{6\sqrt{2}} g_{YM} \epsilon^{abc} \Phi^a [\Phi^b, \Phi^c] \right|_F + h.c. \right) \right],$$
(5.15)

where V is a real superfield representing the vector multiplet and W is the field strength. The advantage of writing the BFSS action in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ language is that we can impose a manifestly $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric gauge fixing condition

$$\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\beta}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\beta}}V = 0. \tag{5.16}$$

where V is the real superfield representing the vector multiplet. $\overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ is defined as

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}} - \theta^{\gamma} \delta_{\gamma \dot{\alpha}} \partial_{\tau}$$
(5.17)

Expanding the real superfield $V(\tau, \theta, \bar{\theta})$ as

$$V(\tau,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = R(\tau) + \theta\chi(\tau) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\chi}(\tau) + \theta\theta M(\tau) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\bar{M}(\tau) + \theta^{\alpha}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}} \left(i\delta_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}A_{0}(\tau) + \sigma^{i}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}X^{i}(\tau)\right) + \theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\lambda}(\tau) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\theta\lambda(\tau) + \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}D(\tau),$$

$$(5.18)$$

then (5.16) implies

$$M = M = 0,$$

$$\lambda_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2} \delta_{\alpha \dot{\beta}} \dot{\chi}^{\dot{\beta}}, \quad \bar{\lambda}_{\dot{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{\beta \dot{\alpha}} \dot{\chi}^{\beta}$$

$$D = \dot{A}_0 - \frac{1}{2} \ddot{R}.$$
(5.19)

Note that since the lowest component field $R(\tau)$ is not zero in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric gauge-fixing condition (5.16), there are infinitely many terms involving $R(\tau)$ in the action.

For now, we wish to decouple the vector multiplet and only study the matter (chiral) multiplets described by the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics. This can be done by

deforming the BFSS action with a superpotential $\delta W = \frac{-i}{6\sqrt{2}} \kappa \epsilon^{abc} \text{Tr} (\Phi^a [\Phi^b, \Phi^c])$ and taking $\kappa/g_{\text{YM}} \to \infty$. Note that this deformation is in the same supermultiplet as $\text{Tr} (\Phi^a \bar{\Phi}^a)$, which is presumably dual to a stringy mode in the bulk. Hence the gravity dual of the deformed theory has a very stringy description.

5.5 Phases of BFSS

There can be different solutions to the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations. In section 4, we have only considered the solution to the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ matter sector WZ model that respects the SU(3) flavor symmetry. To obtain a solution where the SU(3) flavor symmetry is spontaneously broken, we can take the zero mode self-energy σ_0 of, say, Φ^1 to be very small, which corresponds to Φ^1 being massless and can acquire a large vacuum expectation value. This in turn generates large masses for Φ^2 and Φ^3 . We can then integrate out Φ^2 and Φ^3 and obtain some effective action for Φ^1 . In the effective action there are scattering states described by wave packets at large Φ^1 , that becomes just that of the free theory of one chiral superfield Φ^1 . The free energy is then given by N^2 times the volume divergence from the scattering states, which is certainly different from the β -scaling we found in section 4. As already discussed, we expect these different solutions to the planar Schwinger-Dyson equation to describe different phases of the theory at infinite N; the tunneling from one phase to another, which resembles the Hawking radiation of D0 black holes in the gravity dual of BFSS matrix theory, is expected to be exponentially suppressed in the large N limit.

When the matter WZ model is coupled to the gauge multiplets, the $\sim N^2$ flat directions are reduced to $\sim N$ flat directions, due to gauge symmetry. From the perspective of the planar Schwinger-Dyson equation, there is no longer the singular solution that breaks the SU(3) flavor symmetry, as the loops of gauge multiplets contribute to the self-energy of all matter chiral multiplets. Given that the planar free energy is supposed to capture metastable microstates of the D0 black hole, an intriguing question is whether one can study quantitatively the tunneling amplitudes which are non-perturbative in 1/N, in the framework of the Schwinger-Dyson equations. This is left for the future.

6 The high temperature limit

Compared to the low temperature analysis of BFSS in the previous sections, the Schwinger-Dyson equations in the high temperature limit are much simpler to deal with, because the nonzero modes are weakly coupled (the zero modes remain strongly coupled). Prior work in this aspect includes [37], where the high temperature behavior of BFSS was studied by first dimensionally reducing to IKKT matrix model, and then utilizing Monte Carlo method to extract the two point functions. Here, we shall employ the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations to perform the integrating out procedure. Similar techniques have also been applied to the bosonic IKKT matrix model in a 1/D expansion [38].

While the low temperature limit of BFSS matrix model describes a black hole in the bulk, its high temperature limit corresponds to the stringy regime in the dual theory. Therefore the high temperature analysis should tells us about the stringy black hole in the bulk. Note that while the horizon size of such stringy black holes are small in units of the string length, they are large with respect to the Planck length determined by the local string coupling (which goes to zero at large radii).

For the following analysis, we will work with the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge fixing, solve the oneloop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations in the $\beta \ll 1$ limit pertubatively, while keeping the next to leading corrections to the self-energies of both zero and nonzero modes (the appropriate expansion parameter in the high temperature turns out to be $\beta^{3/2}$), and obtain the free energy up to $\mathcal{O}(\beta^3)$. Note that to obtain the next to leading correction to the free energy, we only need to know the $\beta^{3/2}$ corrections for the zero mode self-energies. We shall also calculate the "size" of the bound state $\langle R^2 \rangle_{\beta}$, and compare with the Monte Carlo result from [37].

6.1 Schwinger-Dyson equations

At leading order, the Schwinger-Dyson equations reduce to those involving only the zero modes, and those which determine the nonzero mode self-energies from the zero mode self-energies. The equations for zero modes at leading order are

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{0}^{M} &= \frac{4}{\beta \Pi_{0}^{V}} + \frac{2}{\beta \mu} + \frac{12}{\beta \Pi_{0}^{M} (\Xi_{0}^{M} + 1)}, \\ \Pi_{0}^{V} &= \frac{2}{\beta \Pi_{0}^{V}} + \frac{14}{\beta \Pi_{0}^{M}} + \frac{2}{\beta \mu}, \\ \Xi_{0}^{M} &= \frac{6}{\beta (\Pi_{0}^{M})^{2}}, \\ \frac{\mu}{2} &= \frac{2}{\beta \Pi_{0}^{V}} + \frac{7}{\beta \Pi_{0}^{M}}, \end{split}$$
(6.1)

whose solution is given by

$$\Pi_0^V = \mu = \frac{b}{\beta^{1/2}}, \quad \Pi_0^M = \frac{a}{\beta^{1/2}}, \quad \Xi_0^M = d, \tag{6.2}$$

with

$$b = c = 4.78511, \quad a = \frac{14}{b - 4/b} = 3.54504, \quad d = \frac{6}{a^2} = 0.477429.$$
 (6.3)

Then one can readily obtain the leading self-energies for the nonzero modes

Boson :
$$\Pi_n^M \simeq \left(\frac{6b}{7} - \frac{38}{7b}\right) \beta^{-1/2}, \qquad \Pi_n^V \simeq \left(b - \frac{8}{b}\right) \beta^{-1/2}, \qquad \Xi_n^M \simeq \frac{3}{\pi^2 n^2 a} \beta^{3/2},$$

Fermion : $\Sigma_r^V \simeq \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} \left(b - \frac{13}{2b}\right) \beta^{-1/2}, \qquad \Sigma_r^M \simeq \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \frac{6}{7} \left(b - \frac{5}{3b}\right) \beta^{-1/2}, \qquad (6.4)$
Ghost : $\Pi_n^G \simeq -\frac{2}{b} \beta^{-1/2}, \qquad \Sigma_r^G \simeq \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \frac{1}{2b} \beta^{-1/2}, \qquad \Xi_n^G \simeq \frac{1}{16\pi^2 n^2} \beta^3.$

Proceeding to next order in $\beta^{3/2}$, we find for zero modes,

$$\Pi_0^{(1)M} = -2.52\beta, \quad \Pi_0^{(1)V} = -0.32\beta, \quad \Xi_0^{(1)M} = 0.68\beta^{3/2}, \quad \mu^{(1)} = 5.53\beta, \tag{6.5}$$

while for nonzero modes, we have

$$\beta^{-1}\Pi_n^{(1)M} = 5.24183 + \frac{0.0274248}{n^2}, \quad \beta^{-1}\Pi_n^{(1)V} = 4.86502 + \frac{0.131842}{n^2}.$$
 (6.6)

The detailed calculation is presented in appendix G.

6.2 The free energy

Now that we have the self-energies, we can immediately obtain the free energy in the high temperature limit. To leading order, we have

$$\beta F \simeq \text{const} + 6 \log \beta.$$
 (6.7)

This agrees with the numerical result in [28].

Taking into account the nonzero modes, and also the subleading correction to the zero mode self-energies, we compute the free energy to the subheading order $\mathcal{O}(\beta^{3/2})$ in appendix G,

$$\beta F = \text{const} + 6 \log\beta - 3.89872\beta^{3/2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^3).$$
(6.8)

6.3 Size of the wave function

From the knowledge about the self-energies of the scalar fields, we may calculate the observable that measures the size of the wave function, 9

$$\langle R^2 \rangle_\beta \equiv \frac{1}{N^2} \langle \operatorname{Tr} X^i X^i \rangle_\beta + \frac{1}{N^2} \langle \operatorname{Tr} \phi^a \phi^a \rangle_\beta, \tag{6.9}$$

where

$$\frac{1}{N^2} \langle \operatorname{Tr} X^i X^i \rangle_\beta = 2\beta^{-1} \sum_n \sigma_n^2,$$

$$\frac{1}{N^2} \langle \operatorname{Tr} \phi^a \phi^a \rangle_\beta = 7\beta^{-1} \sum_n \Delta_n^2,$$
(6.10)

which to the leading order in high temperature expansion become

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{1}{N^2} \langle \operatorname{Tr} X^i X^i \rangle_\beta \simeq \frac{2}{\beta \Pi_0^V} = \frac{2}{b} \beta^{-1/2}, \\ &\frac{1}{N^2} \langle \operatorname{Tr} \phi^a \phi^a \rangle_\beta \simeq \frac{7}{\beta \Pi_0^M} = \frac{7}{a} \beta^{-1/2} = (\frac{b}{2} - \frac{2}{b}) \beta^{-1/2}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.11)

Hence we have,

$$\langle R^2 \rangle_\beta \simeq \frac{b}{2} \beta^{-1/2} (g_{\rm YM}^2 N)^{\frac{1}{2}} = 2.392 g_{\rm YM} N^{1/2} T^{1/2},$$
 (6.12)

where we have restored the 't Hooft coupling $g_{\rm YM}^2 N$, which was set to 1 previously, by dimensional analysis.¹⁰ In the dual supergravity geometry, the IIA D0 black hole has radius $r \sim N^{1/5}T^{2/5}$ in the $g_{\rm YM} = 1$ unit, which agrees with the spread of the wave function $\sqrt{\langle R^2 \rangle_{\beta}}$ in the 't Hooft region $T \sim N^{1/3}$.

In appendix G we continue to compute $\langle R^2 \rangle_{\beta}$ to the subleading order $\mathcal{O}(\beta)$,

$$\langle R^2 \rangle_\beta \equiv \omega_1 \beta^{-1/2} + \omega_2 \beta + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{5/2}), \tag{6.13}$$

where

$$\omega_1 = \frac{b}{2} = 2.392, \quad \omega_2 = \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{2\beta} - \frac{7}{12} = 2.180.$$
 (6.14)

⁹Note that our normalization for the fields differs from [37] by a factor of \sqrt{N} .

 $^{^{10}\}mathrm{Recall}$ that X^i has mass dimension 1 and g^2_YM has mass dimension 3.

and $\mu^{(1)}$ is the next-to-leading correction to the A_0 self-energy. Note that $\omega_{1,2}$ will receive corrections from higher-loop diagrams.

In [37], the authors computed $\langle R^2 \rangle_{\beta}$ numerically. To match the notation there, we have $\omega_1 = \chi_1$, and $\omega_2 = \frac{4(\chi_3 - \chi_4)}{3} + \frac{3}{4}$, where $\chi_1 = 2.298$, $\chi_3 = 0.719$ and $\chi_4 = -0.082$ according to Monte Carlo method, leading to $\omega_1 = 2.298$ and $\omega_2 = 1.818$ in [37].

7 Further discussions

7.1 More supersymmetric gauges

As discussed in [26–28], manifest off-shell SUSY is essential for solving the Schwinger-Dyson equations. The importance of having an off-shell description can be seen from the fact that our final solutions for the nonzero modes (1.6) respect the SUSY Ward identity (2.16), which only makes sense for an off-shell SUSY formulation, to leading order in large β .

A related fact is that having kept the auxiliary field f explicit, all the couplings in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Wess-Zumino quantum mechanics are *cubic*. That is, the quartic interaction ϕ^4 is represented by the cubic coupling $f\phi^2$. It appears that having cubic couplings only is the key for the soft collinear approximation (3.1) to work.

If we want to apply the soft collinear ansatz to Schwinger-Dyson equations for the BFSS matrix model and thus solve them analytically, it seems crucial to trade every quartic interaction with cubic couplings by "integrating in" auxiliary fields. Recall that the BFSS action can be decomposed into a $\mathcal{N} = 4$ vector multiplet V and three $\mathcal{N} = 4$ chiral superfields Φ^a with superpotential $W = -i\frac{1}{6\sqrt{2}}g_{\rm YM}\epsilon^{abc} \text{Tr} \left(\Phi^a[\Phi^b, \Phi^c]\right)$, see (5.15). The quartic interactions among ϕ 's are already traded with cubic interactions involving the auxiliary fields f. However, there are still quartic interaction between the vector and chiral multiplets, e.g. from $D_{\mu}\phi^a D^{\mu}\phi^a$. It would be desirable to trade these quartic couplings with cubic couplings as we did for the self-interaction in the chiral multiplet.

Manifest $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supersymmetric formulation using the harmonic superspace [39] provides a natural solution. In the $\mathcal{N} = 8$ language, the BFSS matrix model consists of one vector multiplet and one hypermultiplet. The action for the (gauged) hypermultiplet takes a particularly simple form,

$$S_{\text{hyper}} = -\int du d\zeta^{(-4)} \tilde{q}^{+} (D^{++} + V^{++}) q^{+}.$$
(7.1)

 q^+ is the (analytic) superfield representing the hypermultiplet and the + superscript labels a U(1) charge which is not important here. D^{++} is a derivative acting on the *u*-space and $dud\zeta^{(-4)}$ is the measure on the analytic superspace (the analog of chiral superspace in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ case). ~ is a special conjugation whose details are again not important. At last, V^{++} is the superfield for the vector multiplet.

The key observation here is that, in the harmonic superspace formulation, the couplings between the hypermultiplet q^+ and the vector multiplet V^{++} are cubic. Note, however, that vector multiplet self-interactions involve quartic and higher couplings.

The complication about the harmonic superspace formulation is that each superfield contains infinitely many component fields when expanded with respect to u. Therefore, to

preserve manifest $\mathcal{N} = 8$ SUSY, we necessarily have to deal with infinitely many coupled Schwinger-Dyson equations. An $\mathcal{N} = 8$ supersymmetric gauge fixing condition

$$D^{++}V^{++} = 0 \tag{7.2}$$

will kill all but a finite number of component fields in V^{++} . However, the hypermultiplet superfield q^+ still contains infinitely many component fields.

It may also be possible to formulate Schwinger-Dyson equations for BFSS matrix theory with all $\mathcal{N} = 16$ supersymmetries manifest, by working with a gauge fixed version of the Batalin-Vilkovisky action written in terms of pure spinor superfields [40]. These are left to future investigation.

7.2 Schwinger-Dyson equations for supersymmetric field theories in other dimensions

As another potential application of the technology we developed, one may employ the loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations to supersymmetric field theories in more than one dimension, and compute correlation functions and free energy along an entire RG flow trajectory. We illustrate this with the example of the two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ Wess-Zumino model with Φ^3 superpotential.

It is well known that the $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ Landau-Ginzburg model, with the superspace action

$$S = \int d^2x d^4\theta \ \bar{\Phi}\Phi - \int d^2x d^2\theta \ \frac{g\Phi^{k+2}}{k+2} - \int d^2x d^2\bar{\theta} \ \frac{g\bar{\Phi}^{k+2}}{k+2},\tag{7.3}$$

flows to the k-th $\mathcal{N} = 2$ minimal model in the infrared [41, 42]. The equivalence between the IR fixed point of the Landau-Ginzburg model and the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ minimal model has been checked in many ways: the central charge of the SCFT at the fixed point was derived in [42], the elliptic genus of the two theories were shown to agree [43], the integrable RG flow of the 2d N = 2 LG model was worked out in [44], and the exact S-matrices and the central charge were determined along the entire RG trajectory [45]. However, apart from numerical results obtained via lattice simulation [46, 47], the understanding of this RG flow is based on either symmetry arguments (exact scaling dimension of Φ in the IR limit from the R-charge [42]) or very special integrable structure of the theory at the IR fixed point. The computation of correlation functions along the entire RG flow is not straightforward in such approaches.

The loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations for the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ LG model, on the other hand, appear to provide a useful approximation and expansion scheme along the entire flow. In particular, the one-loop Schwinger-Dyson equation already gives the correct scaling dimension of the fields in the IR limit. For the moment, let us consider the zero temperature limit of the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations for the self-energies of the matter multiplet. Unlike in the case of supersymmetric quantum mechanics, here the solution to the S-D equations is non-singular in the zero temperature limit. Clearly, SUSY Ward identity (C.24) is obeyed for the zero temperature solution, and we can express the fermion and auxiliary field self-energies in terms of that of the scalar field. The one-loop

S-D equation then takes the simple form

$$\frac{\sigma(p)}{p^2} = g^2 \int \frac{d^2q}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{1}{(q^2 + \sigma(q))\left((p-q)^2 + \sigma(p-q)\right)}$$
(7.4)

In the $p \to 0$ limit, the equation reduces to

$$\frac{\sigma(p)}{p^2} \approx g^2 \int \frac{d^2q}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{1}{\sigma(q)\sigma(p-q)}$$
(7.5)

Hence we find the solution for the self-energy in the IR limit,

$$\sigma(p) \approx \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{3})}{\pi^{1/3}\Gamma(\frac{2}{3})} g^{\frac{2}{3}} p^{\frac{4}{3}}.$$
(7.6)

Indeed, we have rediscovered the $\frac{1}{3}$ scaling dimension of Φ in the IR. While it may seem that this simple computation of the IR scaling dimension is essentially equivalent to the statement that the cubic superpotential is marginal in the IR, the Schwinger-Dyson equation is not specialized to the IR fixed point. One may solve (7.4) at all momenta p, which gives an approximation for the self-energy of Φ along the entire RG flow. It appears that, by taking into account higher loop corrections (the two-loop correction is absent and the first correction comes in at three-loop), we will be able to obtain an expansion for exact correlators along the RG flow.

In addition, one can calculate the free energy by solving the Schwinger-Dyson equations at finite temperature. In this case, we discretize the momentum $\vec{p} \to (p, \frac{2\pi n}{\beta})$. The S-D equations become an infinite set of coupled integrable equations. In the low temperature limit, scale invariance determines the free energy up to an overall constant, $F = -\pi c V T^2/6$. Here c is the central charge at the IR fixed point. It would be interesting to compute the value of c by solving the loop truncated S-D equations, and compare the result to the k = 1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ minimal model value c = 1 ($c = \frac{3k}{k+2}$ for the k-th minimal model). It would also be interesting to see how the two-point function for Φ flows using the Schwinger-Dyson equations. We leave these for future development.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Tatsuo Azeyanagi, Masanori Hanada, Hong Liu, Shiraz Minwalla, Steve Shenker and Washington Taylor for useful discussions. XY would like to thank the hospitality of Tata Institute for Fundamental Research, Mumbai, India, during the course of this work. This work is supported in part by the Fundamental Laws Initiative Fund at Harvard University, and by NSF Award PHY-0847457.

A Hawking decay rate of D0-branes

As argued in the introduction, a D0 black hole decays by emission of D0-branes. The fact that these emitted D0-branes are unbounded by a D0 black hole background (1.1) is due to the cancellation between the gravitational potential and the Ramond-Ramond potential in

the DBI action for D0-branes. The decay rate of the black hole is governed by Hawking's formula [48]

$$\Gamma = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int \frac{d^9 \vec{k}}{(2\pi)^9} \frac{\sigma_{\text{abs}} v}{e^{\beta(\omega - \mu n)} - 1},\tag{A.1}$$

where \vec{k} is the spatial momentum, ω the energy, $v = d\omega/dk$ the speed (given by the dispersion relation at infinity), and n the D0-brane charge; σ_{abs} is the absorption cross section and μ is the chemical potential for the D0-brane charge. The phase space and thermal factors make the spectrum of the Hawking emission strongly peaked at $\omega \sim 1/\beta$. The absorption cross section in the regime of interest can be obtained through a classical computation of the capture cross section, or a semi-classical (WKB) computation of the greybody factor and then summing over all partial waves. Here we present the latter.

A.1 Greybody factor

Consider a scalar field propagating in the D0 black hole background (1.1). Because supergravity can only be trusted for $r_0 \ll N^{1/3}l_P$, and this background is only a stable solution $r_0 \gg N^{1/9}l_P$, we shall take $N^{1/9}l_P \ll r_0 \ll N^{1/3}l_P$.¹¹ To incorporate the effects of the graviton, the dilaton, and the Ramond-Ramond 1-form background altogether, it is convenient to lift (1.1) to M-theory:

$$ds_{M}^{2} = f(dx_{10} + C_{1})^{2} + f^{-1/2}ds_{IIA}^{2}$$

= $fdx_{10}^{2} - (1+A)dx_{10}dt + \frac{(1-A)^{2}}{4}f^{-1}dt^{2} + A^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega_{8}^{2},$ (A.2)
 $f = \frac{\tilde{c}_{0}Nl_{P}^{9}}{R_{10}^{2}r^{7}}, \quad \tilde{c}_{0} \equiv \frac{15}{2}, \quad A = 1 - \frac{r_{0}^{7}}{r^{7}}$

where x_{10} is periodic under $x_{10} \sim x_{10} + 2\pi R_{10}$, $R_{10} = g_s l_s$, and $l_P \equiv (2\pi g_s)^{1/3} l_s$. Note that we have written all quantities in the M-theory scales l_P and R_{10} . To simplify the notation, let us set the Planck length l_P to 1, and rescale

$$x_{10} \to x_{10} R_{10}, \quad t \to t/R_{10}, \quad \tilde{c}_0 N \to N.$$
 (A.3)

The Hawking temperature (1.2) is then

$$T_H \equiv \frac{1}{\beta} = \frac{7}{4\pi} \sqrt{\frac{r_0^5}{N}}.$$
(A.4)

In this background, the Klein-Gordon equation for the *n*-th Kaluza-Klein mode ϕ is

$$\left(-Ar^{-8}\partial_r r^8 A\partial_r - 2n\omega\left(1 + \frac{R^7}{r^7}\right) + \frac{AL^2}{r^2}\right)\phi = 0,$$
(A.5)

where $L^2 \equiv \ell(\ell+1)$ is the total angular momentum and

$$R^{7} \equiv \frac{N\omega}{2n} \left(1 - \frac{nr_{0}^{7}}{2N\omega}\right)^{2}.$$
 (A.6)

¹¹When $0 < r_0 < N^{1/9}$, the solution (1.1) is unstable against the inhomogeneous 11D black hole background [5].

Under a redefinition $\tilde{\phi} \equiv \sqrt{r^8 A} \phi$, the Klein-Gordon equation turns into a standard wavein-an-effective potential problem

$$-\partial_r^2 \tilde{\phi} + U \tilde{\phi} = 0, \tag{A.7}$$

where

$$U \equiv A^{-1/2} r^{-4} \partial_r^2 (r^4 A^{1/2}) - 2n\omega A^{-2} \left(1 + \frac{R^7}{r^7}\right) + \frac{A^{-1}L^2}{r^2}.$$
 (A.8)

The greybody factor is then just the transmission amplitude \mathcal{T} of an incoming plane wave in this potential. Due to the complicated form of U, we cannot solve the wave equation (A.7) exactly; instead, we will solve it for large and small r using the WKB method, and then match the solutions in an overlapping region. We show the existence of such a region presently.

The potential U (A.8) involves two natural scales, r_0 and R. When $\omega \ll nr_0^7/N$,

$$R^{7} \simeq \frac{nr_{0}^{14}}{8N\omega} = \frac{r_{0}^{7}}{4} \frac{nr_{0}^{7}}{2N\omega} \gg r_{0}^{7}, \tag{A.9}$$

and when $\omega \gg nr_0^7/2N$,

$$R^7 \simeq \frac{N\omega}{2n} = \frac{r_0^7}{4} \frac{2N\omega}{nr_0^7} \gg r_0^7.$$
 (A.10)

In either case, $R \gg r_0$, so if we define the far region to be $r \gg r_0$ and the near region to be $r \ll R$, then we have an overlapping region $r_0 \ll r \ll R$. The only part of the spectrum where this fails is when $\omega \sim \frac{nr_0^7}{2N}$. However, for $\omega \sim \frac{nr_0^7}{2N} \gg 1/\beta$, the thermal factor suppresses the emission of D0-branes exponentially, so the contribution from $\omega \sim \frac{nr_0^7}{N}$ is negligible. Similarly, the phase space factor suppresses the contribution from $\omega \lesssim \frac{1}{nR^2}$, so we may neglect this region and assume $n\omega R^2 \gg 1$. We will examine these two regions more carefully at the end of the section.

In the far region $r \gg r_0$, we can set $A \simeq 1$. In terms of $\rho \equiv r/R$, the wave equation (A.7) becomes

$$-\partial_{\rho}^{2}\tilde{\phi} + V\tilde{\phi} = 0, \qquad (A.11)$$

where

$$V = \frac{12 + L^2}{\rho^2} - 2n\omega R^2 \left(1 + \frac{1}{\rho^7}\right).$$
 (A.12)

To check if WKB is valid, let us compute

$$V' = -2\left(\frac{12+L^2}{\rho^3}\right) + \frac{14n\omega R^2}{\rho^8}.$$
 (A.13)

For $L^2 \sim 1$, each of V and $\partial_{\rho} V$ is dominated by the second term since $n\omega R^2 \gg 1$, and so the WKB criterion $|\partial_{\rho} V|^2 / |V|^3$ is small for all ρ . Hence WKB is valid, and the far solution is

$$\phi_{\rm far}^{\rm WKB} \propto \rho^{-4} (-V)^{-1/4} e^{\pm i \int d\rho \sqrt{-V}}.$$
 (A.14)

In the near region $r_0 < r \ll R$, let us define $\rho' \equiv r/r_0$. Then the wave equation (A.7) becomes

$$-\partial_{\rho'}^2 \tilde{\phi} + W \tilde{\phi} = 0, \qquad (A.15)$$

where

$$W = -\frac{1 + 4(24 + L^2)\rho'^7 + (8n\omega R^7/r_0^5)\rho'^9 - 4(12 + L^2)\rho'^{14}}{4\rho'^2(1 - \rho'^7)^2}.$$
 (A.16)

If $L^2 \sim 1$, then the ρ'^9 term dominates over 1 and the ρ'^7 term because both R/r_0 and $n\omega R^2$ are large, and because the range of ρ' is bounded below by 1; the ρ'^9 term also dominates over the ρ'^{14} term because $\rho' \ll R/r_0$. Thus the potential can be approximated by

$$W \simeq -\frac{2n\omega R^7}{r_0^5} \frac{\rho'^7}{(1-\rho'^7)^2}.$$
 (A.17)

The WKB criterion

$$\frac{|\partial_{\rho'}W|^2}{|W|^3} \simeq \frac{r_0^5}{2n\omega R^7} \frac{49(1+{\rho'}^7)^2}{{\rho'}^9} \tag{A.18}$$

is peaked near $\rho' \sim 1$, the value thereof is small since both R/r_0 and $n\omega R^2$ are large. Hence WKB is valid, and the near solution is

$$\phi_{\text{near}}^{\text{WKB}} \propto \rho'^{-4} (-W)^{-1/4} e^{\pm i \int d\rho' \sqrt{-W}}.$$
 (A.19)

Now we match the two solutions in the overlapping region $r_0 \ll r \ll R$, which corresponds to $\rho \ll 1$ and $\rho' \gg 1$. But the two sides match trivially, since the two solutions (A.14) and (A.19) become the same in this region. The WKB method can give a nontrivial reflection amplitude only if there exist turning points in the potential. Under our assumptions, the potential (A.8) is well below 0 for the entire range of r, and therefore the transmission amplitude \mathcal{T} is just 1. However, the potential (A.8) has turning points when L^2 is large. From the approximate potential in the far region (A.12), this happens when

$$12 + L^2 > \left(\frac{2}{5}\right)^{1/7} L_{\max}^2, \quad L_{\max}^2 \equiv 2n\omega R^2.$$
 (A.20)

It is not hard to see that the exact potential (A.8) gives the same bound up to multiplication by an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ constant and subleading order corrections. If L^2 exceeds the threshold, then the potential barrier will provide an exponential suppression of the transmission amplitude.

A.2 Partial wave summation

The absorption cross section is related to the greybody factor by [49]

$$\sigma_{\rm abs} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sigma_{\rm abs}^{\ell},\tag{A.21}$$

where

$$\sigma_{\rm abs}^{\ell} = 2^7 \pi^{7/2} \Gamma(7/2) (\ell + 7/2) \begin{pmatrix} \ell + 6 \\ \ell \end{pmatrix} \frac{\mathcal{T}}{k^8}$$
(A.22)

is the absorption cross section for each partial wave. Let ℓ_{\max} be defined such that $L_{\max}^2 = \ell_{\max}(\ell_{\max} + 1)$, then because $\mathcal{T} \simeq 1$ for $\ell < \ell_{\max}$ and \mathcal{T} is exponentially suppressed for $\ell > \ell_{\max}$, we can approximate the sum (A.21) by a hard cutoff

$$\sigma_{\rm abs} \simeq \sum_{\ell=0}^{\ell_{\rm max}} \sigma_{\rm abs}^{\ell} \simeq \frac{2^7 \pi^{7/2} \Gamma(7/2)}{8 \times 6!} \frac{\ell_{\rm max}^8}{k^8},\tag{A.23}$$

where

$$\ell_{\max} \simeq \sqrt{L_{\max}^2} \simeq \sqrt{2n\omega}R.$$
 (A.24)

Note that even though we have kept the prefactor, corrections to the hard cutoff approximation will multiply this prefactor by an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ constant, so one should not take its value too seriously.

A.3 Decay rate

We are now ready to compute the decay rate. The dispersion relation at infinity is $\omega = k^2/2n$, so $v = k/n = \sqrt{2\omega/n}$ and $d^9\vec{k} = ((2n)^{9/2}\pi^{9/2}/\Gamma(9/2)) \omega^{7/2}d\omega$. The chemical potential is¹²

$$\mu dt = C_1|_{r=r_0} = -\frac{r_0^7}{2N} dt.$$
(A.25)

Putting these together, the decay rate is

$$\Gamma \simeq \frac{2^4}{8!\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^4 e^{-n\beta r_0^7/2N} \int_0^\infty d\omega \ \frac{\omega^4 R^8}{e^{\beta\omega} - 1}.$$
 (A.26)

Due to the exponential suppression from the thermal factor, the dominant contribution to Γ comes from $\omega \ll nr_0^7/2N$, where (A.6) can be approximated by

$$R^7 \simeq \frac{nr_0^{14}}{8N\omega}.\tag{A.27}$$

Then

$$\Gamma \simeq \frac{2^{4/7}}{8!\pi} \frac{r_0^{16}}{N^{8/7}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{36/7} e^{-n\beta r_0^7/2N} \int_0^\infty d\omega \ \frac{\omega^{20/7}}{e^{\beta\omega} - 1} \\
\simeq \frac{2^{4/7} \Gamma(27/7) \zeta(27/7)}{8!\pi} \frac{r_0^{16}}{N^{8/7} \beta^{27/7}} \ e^{-\beta r_0^7/2N}, \qquad (A.28) \\
\simeq \frac{2^{4/7} \Gamma(27/7) \zeta(27/7)}{8!\pi} \left(\frac{7}{4\pi}\right)^{27/7} \frac{r_0^{359/14}}{N^{43/14}} \ e^{-(2\pi/7)\sqrt{r_0^9/N}}.$$

where the sum over n is replaced by the n = 1 term because $\beta r_0^7/N \sim \sqrt{r_0^9/N} \gg 1$. To conform with the units in the rest of the paper, one can undo the rescalings (A.3) and restore l_P .

Now let us examine the regions $\omega \sim nr_0^7/2N$ and $\omega \leq 1/nR^2$ where the computation of \mathcal{T} in appendix A.1 fails. For $\omega \sim nr_0^7/2N$, we lose the overlapping region because the two terms in the brackets in (A.6) may cancel to give a small R. However, looking at the range of L^2 (A.20) for which \mathcal{T} becomes exponentially suppressed, we see that a smaller value of R only lowers the hard cutoff and makes the contribution to Γ smaller. Since we already get an exponential suppression from the thermal factor, we can safely neglect the contribution from this region. For $\omega \leq 1/nR^2$, the cutoff is at most $\mathcal{O}(1)$, so the suppression from the phase space factor again allows us to neglect its contribution.

 $^{^{12}}$ It is the difference between the gauge potential at the horizon and that at the "far-horizon" infinity, which is 0 by our gauge choice. Alternatively, without going to far-horizon, it can be fixed by the first law where one uses the regularized ADM mass for the black hole.

B 1D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY

In this appendix we will discuss the structure of 1D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SUSY, the vector and the matter multiplet. It is previously discussed in [26]. We will work in the Euclidean signature.

B.1 Superspace

The (Euclidean) 1D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superspace consists of one bosonic coordinate τ and two real Grassmann coordinates θ_{α} in the vector representation of R-symmetry group SO(2)_R. We choose the SO(2)_R Dirac matrices to be real and symmetric, $\gamma^1 = \sigma_1$ and $\gamma^2 = \sigma_3$, where σ^i are the standard Pauli matrices.

There are two invariant symbols, $\delta_{\alpha\beta}$ and $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$, which represent the inner and exterior products for 2D vectors. We normalize them by $\delta_{11} = \delta_{22} = 1, \delta_{12} = \delta_{21} = 0$, and $\epsilon_{12} = -\epsilon_{21} = 1, \epsilon_{11} = \epsilon_{22} = 0$. If we were to distinguish upper with lower indices, there is a potential confusion whether one uses $\delta_{\alpha\beta}$ or $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$ to raise and lower the index. To avoid this ambiguity, we will write every index downstairs.

Let us define

$$\theta^2 \equiv \frac{i}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \theta_{\alpha} \theta_{\beta} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \theta_{\alpha} \theta_{\beta} = -i \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \theta^2, \tag{B.1}$$

so that θ^2 is real.¹³ We define our fermionic integral measure such that

$$\int d^2\theta \ \theta^2 = 1. \tag{B.2}$$

Given a 2×2 matrix $B_{\alpha\beta}$, we can expand it as

$$B_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} B_{\rho\rho} \delta_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \gamma^{i}_{\rho\sigma} B_{\rho\sigma} \gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\rho\sigma} B_{\rho\sigma} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(B.3)

Some useful identities are

$$\epsilon_{\alpha\gamma}\epsilon_{\beta\gamma} = \delta_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \epsilon_{\alpha\gamma}\epsilon_{\beta\delta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\gamma\delta} - \delta_{\alpha\delta}\delta_{\beta\gamma}, \epsilon_{\alpha\gamma}\gamma^{i}_{\gamma\beta} = \epsilon^{ij}\gamma^{j}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta}\gamma^{j}_{\alpha\beta} = 2\delta^{ij}, \gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta}\gamma^{i}_{\rho\sigma} = \delta_{\alpha\rho}\delta_{\beta\sigma} + \delta_{\alpha\sigma}\delta_{\beta\rho} - \delta_{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\rho\sigma}, \epsilon_{\gamma\delta}\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\gamma}\gamma^{j}_{\beta\delta} = -\epsilon^{ij}\delta_{\alpha\beta} - \delta^{ij}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(B.4)

The supercharges and super-derivatives are

$$Q_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} - \theta_{\alpha} \partial_{\tau}, \tag{B.5}$$

$$D_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{\alpha}} + \theta_{\alpha} \partial_{\tau}, \tag{B.6}$$

They obey the algebra

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, Q_{\beta}\} = -2\delta_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\tau},\tag{B.7}$$

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, D_{\beta}\} = 0, \tag{B.8}$$

$$\{D_{\alpha}, D_{\beta}\} = 2\delta_{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\tau}.\tag{B.9}$$

 $^{^{13}}$ By real we mean the it is real when we Wick rotate to the Lorentzian signature. This will always be assumed implicitly in the following.

B.2 Vector multiplet

B.2.1 Connections

The vector multiplet is constructed as follows. We first introduce a real connection on superspace

$$\nabla_{\alpha} = D_{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\alpha},\tag{B.10}$$

$$\nabla_{\tau} = \partial_{\tau} + i\Gamma_{\tau}.\tag{B.11}$$

Note that Γ_{α} is an anticommuting real superfield while Γ_{τ} is a commuting real superfield.

For reason that will become clear in a minute, Γ_{τ} is determined by Γ_{α} by a constraint equation, so we only have to expand the real connection Γ_{α} as

$$\Gamma_{\alpha} = \chi_{\alpha} + iA_0\theta_{\alpha} + X^i\gamma^i_{\alpha\beta}\theta_{\beta} + d\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\theta_{\beta} + 2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\lambda_{\beta}\theta^2.$$
(B.12)

The super gauge transformations are

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\Gamma_{\alpha} = i\nabla_{\alpha}\Lambda = iD_{\alpha}\Lambda + i[\Gamma_{\alpha},\Lambda], \tag{B.13}$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\Gamma_{\tau} = \nabla_{\tau}\Lambda = \partial_{\tau}\Lambda + i[\Gamma_{\tau},\Lambda], \qquad (B.14)$$

with Λ a real superfield. If we expand

$$\Lambda = \Omega + i\omega_{\alpha}\theta_{\alpha} + W\theta^2, \tag{B.15}$$

then the super gauge transformation in the component form is

$$\delta_{\Lambda} \chi_{\alpha} = \omega_{\alpha} + i[\chi_{\alpha}, \Omega], \tag{B.16}$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda} A_0 = \dot{\Omega} + i[A_0, \Omega] + \frac{i}{2} \{ \chi_{\alpha}, \omega_{\alpha} \}, \tag{B.17}$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda} X^{i} = i[X^{i}, \Omega] - \frac{1}{2} \gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta} \{\chi_{\alpha}, \omega_{\beta}\}, \qquad (B.18)$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda}d = -W + i[d,\Omega] - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\{\chi_{\alpha},\omega_{\beta}\},\tag{B.19}$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\lambda_{\alpha} = -\frac{i}{2}\dot{\omega}_{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}[\chi_{\beta}, W] + i[\lambda_{\alpha}, \Omega] + \frac{1}{2}[A_0, \omega_{\alpha}] + \frac{i}{2}\gamma^i_{\alpha\beta}[X^i, \omega_{\beta}] - \frac{i}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}[d, \omega_{\beta}].$$
(B.20)

B.2.2 Supersymmetry transformations

The SUSY transformations are generated by Q_α in the following way

$$\delta_{\varepsilon}\Gamma_{\alpha} = \varepsilon_{\beta}Q_{\beta}\Gamma_{\alpha}$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad \delta_{\varepsilon}\chi_{\alpha} = i\varepsilon_{\alpha}A_{0} + \varepsilon_{\beta}\gamma^{i}_{\beta\alpha}X^{i} + \varepsilon_{\beta}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}d, \qquad (B.21)$$

$$\delta_{\varepsilon}A_0 = \varepsilon_{\alpha}\lambda_{\alpha} - \frac{\imath}{2}\varepsilon_{\alpha}\dot{\chi}_{\alpha},\tag{B.22}$$

$$\delta_{\varepsilon} X^{i} = -i\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha}\dot{\chi}_{\beta}, \qquad (B.23)$$

$$\delta_{\varepsilon}d = -i\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha}\lambda_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon_{\alpha}\dot{\chi}_{\beta}, \qquad (B.24)$$

$$\delta_{\varepsilon}\lambda_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{\alpha}\dot{A}_{0} + \frac{i}{2}\varepsilon_{\beta}\dot{X}^{i}\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{i}{2}\varepsilon_{\beta}\dot{d}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}.$$
 (B.25)

B.2.3 Field strengths

The field strengths $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta}$ and \mathcal{F}_{α} are

$$\{\nabla_{\alpha}, \nabla_{\beta}\} = 2\delta_{\alpha\beta}\nabla_{\tau} + \mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.26)$$

$$[\nabla_{\tau}, \nabla_{\alpha}] = -i\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}.\tag{B.27}$$

Explicitly, they are given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta} = D_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta} + D_{\beta}\Gamma_{\alpha} + \{\Gamma_{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\beta}\} - 2i\delta_{\alpha\beta}\Gamma_{\tau}, \tag{B.28}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha} = i\partial_{\tau}\Gamma_{\alpha} + D_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\tau} - [\Gamma_{\tau}, \Gamma_{\alpha}]. \tag{B.29}$$

Under super gauge transformations, the field strengths transform covariantly:

$$\delta_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta} = i[\mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta}, \Lambda], \tag{B.30}$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha} = i[\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}, \Lambda]. \tag{B.31}$$

Note that the lowest component ($\theta = 0$) of the field strength is neutral under the super gauge transformations which depend on θ .

Next we impose the constraint $\delta_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, from which we can express Γ_{τ} in terms of others

$$\Gamma_{\tau} = -\frac{i}{2} \left(D_{\alpha} \Gamma_{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\alpha} \Gamma_{\alpha} \right). \tag{B.32}$$

Note the super gauge transformations (B.13) and (B.14) are compatible with the constraint (B.32). Now $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta}$ is a symmetric traceless matrix, so it can be viewed as a vector in SO(2)_R by defining \mathcal{F}^i as

$$\mathcal{F}^{i} \equiv \frac{1}{4} \gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{F}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta} \left(D_{(\alpha} \Gamma_{\beta)} + \Gamma_{(\alpha} \Gamma_{\beta)} \right)$$
(B.33)

B.2.4 Action

The 1D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Yang-Mills action is given by

$$S_{\rm YM} = \frac{1}{g_{\rm YM}^2} \int d\tau d^2 \theta \,{\rm Tr} \left\{ -\frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{i}{2} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \right) \nabla_\alpha \mathcal{F}^i \nabla_\beta \mathcal{F}^i \right\}$$
(B.34)

In the Wess-Zumino gauge, the component fields χ_{α} and d in Γ_{α} are gauged away by appropriately choosing the super gauge parameter ω_{α} and W. While the part of the super gauge symmetry is fixed by the Wess-Zumino gauge, we still have the conventional bosonic gauge transformation generated by Ω . In the Wess-Zumino gauge, the expansion of the real connection superfield reduces to

$$\Gamma_{\alpha} = iA_0\theta_{\alpha} + X^i \gamma^i_{\alpha\beta}\theta_{\beta} + 2\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\lambda_{\beta}\theta^2.$$
(B.35)

The field strength \mathcal{F}^i in the component form is then

$$\mathcal{F}^{i} = X^{i} - i\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta}\lambda_{\alpha}\theta_{\beta} + \epsilon^{ij}\left(i\dot{X}^{j} - [A_{0}, X^{j}]\right)\theta^{2}.$$
(B.36)

The Yang-Mills action in the WZ gauge is

$$S_{\rm YM} = \frac{1}{g_{\rm YM}^2} \int d\tau \, {\rm Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \lambda_\alpha D_0 \lambda_\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_\alpha \gamma^i_{\alpha\beta} [X^i, \lambda_\beta] \right.$$
(B.37)

$$+\frac{1}{2}D_0X^iD_0X^i - \frac{1}{4}[X^i, X^j][X^i, X^j]\bigg\},$$
 (B.38)

where $D_0 = \partial_\tau + i[A_0, \cdot]$. Note again that (B.38) is only invariant under the conventional (bosonic) gauge transformation, but not under the super gauge transformation.

Next we want to write down the action without fixing a gauge. Define the "covariant" component fields to be

$$X^{i}|_{cov} \equiv \mathcal{F}^{i}|_{\theta=0} = \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta} \left(D_{(\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta)} + \Gamma_{(\alpha}\Gamma_{\beta)} \right)|_{\theta=0}$$

= $X^{i} + \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta}\chi_{\alpha}\chi_{\beta},$ (B.39)

$$A_{0}|_{\rm cov} \equiv \Gamma_{\tau}|_{\theta=0} = -i\frac{1}{2} \left(D_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha} \right)|_{\theta=0}$$
$$= A_{0} - i\frac{1}{2}\chi_{\alpha}\chi_{\alpha} \tag{B.40}$$

$$\lambda_{\alpha}|_{\rm cov} \equiv \mathcal{F}_{\alpha}|_{\theta=0} = i\partial_{\tau}\Gamma_{\alpha} + D_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\tau} - [\Gamma_{\tau}, \Gamma_{\alpha}]|_{\theta=0}$$
$$= \lambda_{\alpha} + \frac{i}{2}\dot{\chi}_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}[A_0, \chi_{\alpha}] - \frac{i}{2}\gamma^{i}_{\alpha\beta}[X^{i}, \chi_{\beta}] + \frac{i}{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}[d, \chi_{\beta}] - \frac{i}{2}[\chi_{\alpha}, \chi_{\beta}\chi_{\beta}] \qquad (B.41)$$

To obtain the vector multiplet action without fixing a gauge, one has to find a extension of (B.38) such that it is invariant under the full super gauge transformation. Suppose we replace every X^i , A_0 , and λ_{α} in (B.38) by $X^i|_{cov}$, $A_0|_{cov}$, and $\lambda_{\alpha}|_{cov}$ defined above, then the action is still invariant under the conventional gauge transformation because the gauge indices are properly contracted and the derivatives always appear in the form of gauge covariant derivatives D_0 . In addition, since the covariant fields are the lowest components of \mathcal{F}^i , \mathcal{F}_{α} , and Γ_{τ} , they are neutral under gauge transformations that depend on θ . As a result, the new action is invariant under the full super gauge transformation as desired. Thus the 1D $\mathcal{N} = 2$ super Yang-Mills action is given by (B.38) with every component field replaced by the covariant component fields defined in (B.39)–(B.41)

B.3 Matter multiplet

Consider a real scalar superfield Φ in the adjoint representation of the gauge group:

$$\Phi = \phi + i\psi_{\alpha}\theta_{\alpha} + if\theta^2. \tag{B.42}$$

where the i in front of f is such that the kinetic term for f has the right sign. The SUSY transformations are

$$\delta_{\varepsilon}\Phi = \varepsilon_{\alpha}Q_{\alpha}\Phi \tag{B.43}$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad \delta_{\varepsilon}\phi = -i\varepsilon_{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha}, \tag{B.44}$$

$$\delta_{\varepsilon}\psi_{\alpha} = -i\varepsilon_{\beta}f\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} + i\varepsilon_{\alpha}\phi, \qquad (B.45)$$

$$\delta_{\varepsilon} f = \varepsilon_{\alpha} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \dot{\psi}_{\beta}. \tag{B.46}$$

The super gauge transformation is

$$\delta_{\Lambda} \Phi = i[\Phi, \Lambda] \tag{B.47}$$

Written in terms of the component fields, we have

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\phi = i[\phi,\Omega],\tag{B.48}$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\psi_{\alpha} = i[\psi_{\alpha},\Omega] + i[\phi,\omega_{\alpha}], \tag{B.49}$$

$$\delta_{\Lambda} f = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \{ \psi_{\alpha}, \omega_{\beta} \} + i[f, \Omega] + i[\phi, W].$$
(B.50)

The action we will consider is

$$S_M = \int d\tau d^2\theta \operatorname{Tr} \left(-\frac{i}{4} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \nabla_\alpha \Phi^a \nabla_\beta \Phi^a - \frac{ig_{\rm YM}}{3} \epsilon^{abc} \Phi^a [\Phi^b, \Phi^c] \right), \tag{B.51}$$

where a is in some representation of the flavor symmetry G and ϵ^{abc} is a totally antisymmetric G-invariant tensor. If we write the BFSS action in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ language, then it consists of one vector multiplet and the matter multiplet in the 7 of the flavor symmetry G_2 .

B.4 Schwinger-Dyson equations for BFSS in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ language

Let us write down the one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations for BFSS with manifest $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry. The full action is $S_{\text{vec}} + S_{\text{matter}} + S_{\text{ghost}}$ given in (5.1) and (5.6). Let us denote the propagators for the vector, matter, and ghost multiplets by

vector:
$$\sigma_n^2$$
, a_r ,
matter: Δ_n^2 , g_r , ϵ_n^2 ,
ghost: s_n , t_r , u_n , (B.52)

and write them in terms of the self-energies as

$$\sigma_n^2 = \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_n^V}, \quad a_r = \frac{i}{(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta})^3 + \Sigma_r^V},$$

$$\Delta_n^2 = \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_n^M}, \quad g_r = -\frac{i}{\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + \Sigma_r^M}, \quad \epsilon_n^2 = \frac{1}{1 + \Xi_n^M},$$

$$s_n = -\frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_n^G}, \quad t_r = -\frac{i}{\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + \Sigma_r^G}, \quad u_n = \frac{1}{1 + \Xi_n^G}.$$
(B.53)

There is also a propagator for the zero mode of the gauge field, $\langle A_{00}A_{00}\rangle = \rho_0^2 = 1/\mu$, where A_{00} is normalized by $A_0 = \beta^{-\frac{1}{2}}A_{00}$.

The one-loop truncated Schwinger-Dyson equations are

$$\Pi_{n}^{V} = \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_{m} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi m}{\beta})^{2} + \Pi_{m}^{V}} - \frac{3}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta})^{2} + \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \Sigma_{r}^{V}} + \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{m} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi m}{\beta})^{2} + \Pi_{m}^{M}} + \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r}^{M})(\frac{2\pi (n-r)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{n-r}^{M})} - \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r}^{G})(\frac{2\pi (n-r)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{n-r}^{G})}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \frac{2}{\beta\mu} - \frac{8}{\beta\mu} \frac{1}{1 + (\frac{2}{\beta\pi})^2 \Pi_{V}^{L}}, \\ &\Sigma_{r}^{V} = \frac{3}{\beta} \frac{2\pi}{\beta} \sum_{m} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta\pi})^2 + \Pi_{m}^{L}} - \frac{4}{\beta} \frac{2\pi}{\beta} \sum_{s} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta})^2 + \frac{3}{2\pi} \sum_{r}^{V}} + \frac{14}{\beta} \frac{2\pi}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(1 + (\frac{2}{\beta\pi})^2)^2 + \Pi_{m}^{L}} \\ &+ \frac{5}{2\beta\mu} \frac{2\pi}{\beta} - \frac{8}{\beta\mu} \frac{2\pi}{\beta} \frac{1}{1 + (\frac{3}{2\pi})^3 \Sigma_{V}^{V}} + \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(1 + (\frac{3}{2\pi})^2 \Pi_{m}^{L})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{L})} \\ &+ \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(1 + \Xi_{m}^{M})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{M})} - \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(1 + \Xi_{m}^{R})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{L})}, \end{split} \tag{B.54} \\ &\Pi_{n}^{M} = \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_{N}^{M}} - \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi}{\beta})^2 + \frac{8}{2\pi} \Sigma_{V}^{V}} + \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{m} \frac{1}{((\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta}))^2 + \Pi_{m}^{M})(1 + \Xi_{m-m}^{M})} \\ &+ \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_{N}^{M}} - \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi}{\beta})^2 + \frac{8}{2\pi} \Sigma_{V}^{V}} + \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{((\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta}))^2 + \Pi_{m}^{M})(1 + \Xi_{m-m}^{M})} \\ &+ \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_{N}^{M})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m-r}^{M})} + \frac{4}{\beta} \left(\frac{2\pi}{\beta}\right)^2 \sum_{r} \frac{1}{((\frac{2\pi}{\beta})^3 + \Sigma_{V}^{V})(\frac{2\pi(n-r)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m-r}^{M})} \\ &+ \frac{2}{\beta\mu} - \frac{8}{\beta\mu} \frac{1}{1 + (\frac{2}{\beta\pi})^2 \Pi_{m}^{M}}, \\ \\ &\Sigma_{m}^{M} = \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{1}{(2\pi\pi)^2 + \Pi_{N}^{M})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{M})} + \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(1 + (\frac{2}{\beta\pi})^2 \Pi_{N}^{M})((\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{M})} \\ &+ \frac{2}{\beta\mu} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(1 + \Xi_{m}^{M})((\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{M})} + \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{((\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_{N}^{M})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{n-r}^{M})} \\ &+ \frac{2}{\beta\mu} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(1 + \Xi_{m}^{M})((\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{M})} + \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{((\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta})^2 + \Pi_{N}^{M})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{n-r}^{M})} \\ &- \frac{2}{\beta\mu} \frac{2\pi}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m}^{M})((\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{M})} + \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r}^{M})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{n-r}^{M})} \\ &- \frac{2}{\beta\mu} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m}^{M})((\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r-n}^{M})} + \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m}^{M})(\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m-n}^{M})} \\ &- \frac{2}{\beta\mu} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{(\frac{2\pi\pi}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m}^{M})((\frac{2\pi(r-n)}{\beta} + \Sigma_{m-n}^{M})} \\ &$$

$$\beta \frac{2\pi n}{n} \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + \frac{1}{2\pi n} \prod_{n}^{M} \right)^{2} \qquad \beta \frac{2\pi n}{r} \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + \left(\frac{1}{2\pi n} \right)^{2} \Sigma_{r}^{r} \right)^{2} \qquad \beta \frac{2\pi n}{n} \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + \frac{1}{2\pi n} \prod_{n}^{M} \right)^{2} + \frac{7}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{\left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r}^{M} \right)^{2}} + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{n} \frac{1}{\left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + \frac{\beta}{2\pi n} \prod_{n}^{G} \right)^{2}} - \frac{1}{2\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{1}{\left(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + \Sigma_{r}^{G} \right)^{2}}.$$
(B.57)

B.5 Free energy of BFSS in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ gauge-fixing condition

The free energy can be approximated using the mean-field method [26]. It consists of four parts,

$$\beta F_{0} = -\frac{1}{2} \log \mu - \sum_{l} \log \sigma_{l}^{2} + \sum_{r} \log a_{r} - \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l} \log \Delta_{l}^{2} + 7 \sum_{r} \log g_{r} - \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l} \log \epsilon_{l}^{2} + \sum_{l \neq 0} \log s_{l} - 2 \sum_{r} \log t_{r} + \sum_{l} \log u_{l},$$
(B.58)
$$\beta F_{2} = \sum_{l} \left(\left(\frac{2\pi l}{\beta} \right)^{2} \sigma_{l}^{2} - 1 \right) + \sum_{r} \left(i \left(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} \right)^{3} a_{r} + 1 \right) + \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l} \left(\left(\frac{2\pi l}{\beta} \right)^{2} \Delta_{l}^{2} - 1 \right) + 7 \sum_{r} \left(-i \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} g_{r} + 1 \right) + \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l} \left(\epsilon_{l}^{2} - 1 \right) + \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\left(\frac{2\pi l}{\beta} \right)^{2} s_{l} + 1 \right) + 2 \sum_{r} \left(i \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} t_{r} - 1 \right) - \sum_{l} (u_{l} - 1),$$
(B.59)

$$\beta F_4 = -\frac{2}{\beta} \sum_{r,s} \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} \frac{2\pi s}{\beta} a_r a_s + \frac{3i}{\beta} \sum_{l,r} \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} a_r \sigma_l^2 + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{l,m} \sigma_l^2 \sigma_m^2 + \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{l,m} \Delta_l^2 \sigma_m^2 + \frac{14i}{\beta} \sum_{l,r} \Delta_l^2 \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} a_r + \frac{7}{\beta} \sum_l \frac{\Delta_l^2}{\mu} + \frac{5i}{2\beta} \sum_r \frac{2\pi r}{\beta} \frac{a_r}{\mu} + \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_l \frac{\sigma_l^2}{\mu}, \quad (B.60)$$

$$\beta F_{3} = -\frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{l} \left(\frac{2\pi l}{\beta}\right)^{2} \frac{\sigma_{l}^{4}}{\mu} - \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{r} \left(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta}\right)^{4} \frac{a_{r}^{2}}{\mu} + \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{l+r+s=0} \left(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta}\right)^{2} \Delta_{l}^{2} a_{r} g_{s}$$

$$+ \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{l+r+s=0} \epsilon_{l}^{2} a_{r} g_{s} - \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{l+r+s=0} \sigma_{l}^{2} g_{r} g_{s} - \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{l} \left(\frac{2\pi l}{\beta}\right)^{2} \frac{\Delta_{l}^{4}}{\mu}$$

$$- \frac{7}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{g_{r}^{2}}{\mu} + \frac{21}{\beta} \sum_{l+m+n=0} \Delta_{l}^{2} \Delta_{m}^{2} \epsilon_{n}^{2} - \frac{42}{\beta} \sum_{l+r+s=0} \Delta_{l}^{2} g_{r} g_{s} \qquad (B.61)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{l+r+s=0} \left(\sigma_{l}^{2} t_{r} t_{s} - u_{l} t_{r} a_{s} + \left(\frac{2\pi l}{\beta}\right)^{2} s_{l} t_{r} a_{s}\right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{t_{r}^{2}}{\mu} + \frac{1}{\beta} \sum_{l} \left(\frac{2\pi l}{\beta}\right)^{2} \frac{s_{l}^{2}}{\mu}.$$

Here βF_0 is the free energy of the trial action, βF_2 is that from the difference between the quadratic part of the BFSS action and the trial action, and βF_3 and βF_4 from the cubic and quartic couplings.

C 1D $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SUSY

The 1D $\mathcal{N} = 4$ superspace is the same as the 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace, so we will mostly adopt the 4D notations here. We will work in the Euclidean signature.

C.1 Superspace and convention

Let us start with the 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superspace. We will denote $(\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{1})$ and $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2})$ of 4D rotation group SO(4) = SU(2)_{ℓ} × SU(2)_r by the lower α and $\dot{\alpha}$, respectively. The SO(4) invariant symbols $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$, $\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}$ and their inverses are normalized by

$$\epsilon^{12} = \epsilon^{\dot{12}} = +1, \ \epsilon_{12} = \epsilon_{\dot{12}} = -1.$$
 (C.1)

We also have two other SO(4) invariant symbols $\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ and $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\dot{\alpha}\alpha}$ with $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ defined as

$$\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = (iI,\vec{\sigma}),$$

$$\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\dot{\alpha}\alpha} = \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\sigma^{\mu}_{\beta\dot{\beta}} = (iI,-\vec{\sigma}).$$
 (C.2)

Under dimension reduction, the time direction is singled out and the SO(4) rotation group is broken to the SO(3)_R \cong SU(2)_R *R*-symmetry of the 1D quantum mechanics. In addition, the 4D $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY theory has an U(1)_R symmetry, so the full *R*-symmetry of the 1D $\mathcal{N} = 4$ quantum mechanics is U(1)_R × SU(2)_R. Note that the SU(2)_R is embedded in the 4D rotation group SU(2)_{\ell} × SU(2)_r in such a way that the zeroth component of σ^{μ} and $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu}$, i.e. $i\delta_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}$, is its invariant symbol.

The supercharges $Q_{\alpha}, Q_{\dot{\alpha}}$ and the supercovariant derivatives $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}, \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ are defined as

$$Q_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}} - \delta_{\alpha \dot{\beta}} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}} \partial_{\tau},$$

$$\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}} + \delta_{\beta \dot{\alpha}} \theta^{\beta} \partial_{\tau},$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}} + \delta_{\alpha \dot{\beta}} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}} \partial_{\tau},$$

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}} - \delta_{\beta \dot{\alpha}} \theta^{\beta} \partial_{\tau}.$$

(C.3)

The only nontrivial anticommutators are

$$\{Q_{\alpha}, \bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} = 2\delta_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\tau}, \quad \{\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}, \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} = -2\delta_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}\partial_{\tau}. \tag{C.4}$$

As opposed to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ case, we will distinguish the upper index with the lower one. The indices are raised and lowered by the invariant symbols $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$, $\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}$ and their inverses,

$$\psi^{\alpha} = \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}\psi_{\beta}, \quad \psi_{\alpha} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\psi^{\beta}, \tag{C.5}$$

and similarly for the dotted indices. We introduce the following notation for the spinor bilinear,

$$\chi \psi = \chi^{\alpha} \psi_{\alpha} = -\epsilon^{\alpha \beta} \chi_{\alpha} \psi_{\beta} = \psi \chi,$$

$$\overline{\psi} \overline{\chi} = \overline{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \overline{\chi}^{\dot{\alpha}} = \epsilon^{\dot{\alpha} \dot{\beta}} \overline{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \overline{\chi}_{\dot{\beta}} = \overline{\chi} \overline{\psi}.$$
 (C.6)

In particular,

$$\theta_{\alpha}\theta_{\beta} = \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \theta^{\alpha}\theta^{\beta} = -\frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}, \bar{\theta}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}_{\dot{\beta}} = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}, \quad \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\epsilon^{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}.$$
(C.7)

C.2 Chiral multiplet

The chiral superfield $\Phi(\tau, \theta, \bar{\theta})$ satisfies

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{a}}\Phi(\tau,\theta,\theta) = 0. \tag{C.8}$$

We can solve this constraint by first introducing

$$y = \tau + \delta_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} \theta^{\alpha} \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (C.9)

By using $\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\theta_{\alpha} = 0$ and $\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}y = 0$ we find that any superfield $\Phi(y,\theta)$ that is a function of y and θ is chiral.

We can expand $\Phi(y,\theta)$ in terms of component fields,

$$\Phi^a(y,\theta) = \phi^a(y) + \sqrt{2}\psi^a_\alpha(y)\theta^\alpha + if^a(y)\theta^2, \qquad (C.10)$$

with a being the index of some flavor symmetry group G. Note that we are working in the Euclidean signature so there is an i for the auxiliary field f(y) to make its quadratic term in the action positive.

The SUSY transformations are

$$\begin{split} &[Q_{\alpha}, \phi^{a}] = i\sqrt{2}\psi_{\alpha}^{a}, \quad \{Q_{\alpha}, \psi_{\beta}^{a}\} = \sqrt{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}f^{a}, \qquad [Q_{\alpha}, f^{a}] = 0, \\ &[Q_{\alpha}, \bar{\phi}^{a}] = 0, \qquad \{Q_{\alpha}, \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\beta}}^{a}\} = -i\sqrt{2}\delta_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\dot{\phi}^{a}, \quad [Q_{\alpha}, \bar{f}^{a}] = \sqrt{2}\delta_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\dot{\bar{\psi}}^{\dot{\alpha}}. \\ &[\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \phi^{a}] = 0, \qquad \{\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \psi_{\beta}^{a}\} = -i\sqrt{2}\delta_{\beta\dot{\alpha}}\dot{\phi}^{a}, \quad [\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, f^{a}] = -\sqrt{2}\delta_{\beta\dot{\alpha}}\dot{\psi}^{a\beta}, \\ &[\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\phi}^{a}] = i\sqrt{2}\bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{a}, \quad \{\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\beta}}^{a}\} = -\sqrt{2}\epsilon_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}\bar{f}^{a}, \qquad [\bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \bar{f}^{a}] = 0. \end{split}$$
(C.11)

The Lagrangian with a general superpotential $W(\Phi)$ is given by¹⁴

$$\mathcal{L} = \int d^2\theta d^2\bar{\theta} \ \bar{\Phi}\Phi + \left(\int d^2\theta \ W(\Phi) + h.c.\right).$$
(C.12)

C.3 Vector multiplet

Consider a real superfield $V(\tau, \theta, \overline{\theta})$ in the adjoint representation of some gauge group with the following component field expansion

$$V(\tau,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = R(\tau) + \theta\chi + \bar{\theta}\bar{\chi}(\tau) + \theta\theta M(\tau) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\bar{M}(\tau) + \theta^{a}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{b}} \left(i\delta_{a\dot{b}}A_{0}(\tau) + \sigma^{i}_{a\dot{b}}X^{i}(\tau)\right) + \theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\lambda}(\tau) + \bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}\theta\lambda(\tau) + \frac{1}{2}\theta\theta\bar{\theta}\bar{\theta}D(\tau).$$
(C.13)

The gauge transformation is

$$e^{-2V} \to e^{-2i\bar{\Lambda}} e^{-2V} e^{2i\Lambda}$$
 (C.14)

where Λ and $\overline{\Lambda}$ are chiral and anti-chiral superfield, respectively.

The field-strength superfield is defined by

$$W_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{8}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}e^{2V}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}e^{-2V} \tag{C.15}$$

The kinetic action for the vector multiplet is then given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \text{Tr}\left(\int d^2\theta \ \frac{1}{4g_{\text{YM}}^2} W^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} + h.c.\right).$$
(C.16)

¹⁴Note that the complex conjugate is defined by first Wick rotating to Lorentzian signature, taking the complex conjugate, and then Wick rotating back to the Euclidean signature.

C.4 $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SUSY Ward identities

The $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SUSY Ward identities for the chiral multiplet can be similarly derived as in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ case. We define the self-energies $\sigma(p)$, $\eta(p)$, and h(p) for the boson ϕ^a , the auxiliary field f^a , and the fermion ψ^a_{α} , $\bar{\psi}^{a\alpha}$ to be

$$\langle \bar{\phi}^{a}(p)\phi^{b}(-p)\rangle = \frac{\delta^{ab}}{p^{2} + \sigma(p)},$$

$$\langle \bar{f}^{a}(p)f^{b}(-p)\rangle = \frac{\delta^{ab}}{1 + \eta(p)},$$

$$\langle \bar{\psi}^{a}_{\dot{\alpha}}(p)\psi^{b}_{\beta}(-p)\rangle = -i\frac{\delta^{ab}\delta_{\dot{\alpha}\beta}}{p + h(p)},$$

$$(C.17)$$

respectively. Note that $\sigma(-p) = \sigma(p)$, $\eta(-p) = \eta(p)$, and h(-p) = -h(p).

The SUSY Ward identity is an exact relation between the exact propagators for fields in the same SUSY multiplet. Suppose the SUSY is unbroken in the model, we have

$$0 = \langle \{Q_{\alpha}, \phi^{a}(\tau)\bar{\psi}^{b}_{\dot{\beta}}(\tau')\}\rangle = i\sqrt{2}\langle \psi^{a}_{\alpha}(\tau)\bar{\psi}^{b}_{\dot{\beta}}(\tau')\rangle - i\sqrt{2}\delta_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\langle \phi^{a}(\tau)\overline{\phi^{b}}(\tau')\rangle.$$
(C.18)

Going to the momentum space, this implies

$$\langle \bar{\psi}^{b}_{\dot{\beta}}(p)\psi^{a}_{\alpha}(-p)\rangle = -ip\delta_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\langle \bar{\phi}^{a}(p)\phi^{b}(-p)\rangle \tag{C.19}$$

that is

$$\sigma(p) = ph(p). \tag{C.20}$$

This is an exact relation between the self-energies for the boson ϕ^a and the fermion ψ^a_{α} . Similarly, we can consider

$$0 = \langle \{Q_{\alpha}, \psi^{a}_{\beta}(\tau)\bar{f}^{b}(\tau')\}\rangle = \sqrt{2}\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\langle f^{a}(\tau)\bar{f}^{b}(\tau')\rangle - \sqrt{2}\delta_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}}\langle \psi^{a}_{\beta}(\tau)\overline{\psi}^{b\dot{\gamma}}(\tau')\rangle.$$
(C.21)

In the momentum space it is

$$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta} \langle \bar{f}^b(p) f^a(-p) \rangle = -ip \delta_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}} \epsilon^{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\rho}} \langle \overline{\psi}^b_{\dot{\rho}}(p) \psi^a_{\beta}(-p) \rangle.$$
(C.22)

Using $\epsilon^{\dot{\gamma}\dot{\rho}}\delta_{\alpha\dot{\gamma}}\delta_{\beta\dot{\rho}} = -\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}$, we have

$$\eta(p) = \frac{h(p)}{p}.\tag{C.23}$$

In summary, we have obtained the exact relation

$$h(p) = \frac{\sigma(p)}{p} = p\eta(p), \qquad (C.24)$$

which takes exactly the same form as in the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ case (2.16).

C.5 Vector multiplet zero mode action under $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge-fixing

In this subsection we will truncate the vector multiplet action to the zero mode sector in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ gauge-fixing condition (5.16). We only need to focus on the component fields A_0, X^i , and R since $D = \dot{A}_0 - \frac{1}{2}\ddot{R}$ is set to zero in the zero mode truncation. We will write A_0 and X^i collectively as A_μ with $\mu = 0, 1, 2, 3$.

The field-strength superfield is

$$W_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{8} \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}} e^{2V} \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} e^{-2V}.$$
(C.25)

To get the terms with only zero modes, we can replace every \mathcal{D} in (C.25) by $\partial/\partial\theta$ and similarly for $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$. Using

$$\begin{split} \exp\left(2R + 2\theta^{\alpha}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}}\sigma_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}^{\mu}A_{\mu}\right) \\ &= e^{2R} + \int_{0}^{1} ds \, e^{2sR} \, 2\theta^{\alpha}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}}\sigma_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}^{\mu}A_{\mu}e^{2(1-s)R} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1} ds \int_{0}^{s} du \, e^{2uR} \, 2\theta^{\alpha}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}}\sigma_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}^{\mu}A_{\mu}e^{2(s-u)R} \, 2\theta^{\gamma}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\delta}}\sigma_{\gamma\dot{\delta}}^{\nu}A_{\nu}e^{2(1-s)R} \\ &= e^{2R} + 2\int_{0}^{1} ds \, e^{2sR} \, \theta^{\alpha}\bar{\theta}^{\dot{\beta}}\sigma_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}^{\mu}A_{\mu}e^{2(1-s)R} \\ &- 2\theta^{2}\bar{\theta}^{2}\int_{0}^{1} ds \int_{0}^{s} du \, e^{2uR}A_{\mu}e^{2(s-u)R}A^{\mu}e^{2(1-s)R}, \end{split}$$
(C.26)

we then expand

$$W_{\alpha} = -2\theta_{\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} ds \int_{0}^{s} du \, e^{2(1-u)R} A_{\mu} e^{-2(s-u)R} A^{\mu} e^{-2(1-s)R} - \theta^{\gamma} \epsilon^{\dot{\delta}\dot{\epsilon}} \sigma^{\mu}_{\gamma\dot{\delta}} \sigma^{\nu}_{\alpha\dot{\epsilon}} \int_{0}^{1} ds e^{2sR} A_{\mu} e^{2(1-s)R} \int_{0}^{1} du e^{-2sR} A_{\nu} e^{-2(1-s)R}.$$
(C.27)

We can simplify the above equation by using the identity

$$\epsilon^{\dot{\delta}\dot{\epsilon}}\sigma^{\mu}_{\gamma\dot{\delta}}\sigma^{\nu}_{\alpha\dot{\epsilon}} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\sigma^{\mu}_{\gamma\dot{\delta}}\sigma^{\nu\dot{\delta}\beta} = -\epsilon_{\alpha\gamma}\delta^{\mu\nu} - 2i\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}(S^{\mu\nu}_L)^{\beta}_{\gamma}, \tag{C.28}$$

where

$$(S_L^{\mu\nu})_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{i}{4} (\sigma^{\mu} \bar{\sigma}^{\nu} - \sigma^{\nu} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu})_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}. \tag{C.29}$$

Now

$$W_{\alpha} = \theta_{\alpha} \left(-2 \int_{0}^{1} ds \int_{0}^{s} du \, e^{2(1-u)R} A_{\mu} e^{-2(s-u)R} A^{\mu} e^{-2(1-s)R} \right. \\ \left. + \int_{0}^{1} ds e^{2sR} A_{\mu} e^{2(1-s)R} \int_{0}^{1} du e^{-2sR} A^{\mu} e^{-2(1-s)R} \right)$$

$$\left. - 2i (S_{L}^{\mu\nu})_{\alpha}^{\delta} \theta_{\delta} \int_{0}^{1} ds e^{2sR} A_{\mu} e^{2(1-s)R} \int_{0}^{1} du e^{-2sR} A_{\nu} e^{-2(1-s)R},$$
(C.30)

where we have used $\epsilon_{\alpha\beta}\epsilon^{\gamma\delta} = -\delta_{\alpha}^{\gamma}\delta_{\beta}^{\ \delta} + \delta_{\alpha}^{\ \delta}\delta_{\beta}^{\ \gamma}$ and $(S_L^{\mu\nu})_{\alpha}^{\ \alpha} = 0$. Note that in the case of R = 0, only the term with $S_L^{\mu\nu}$ survives and is contracted with $[A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$, as expected in the usual Wess-Zumino gauge.

The zero mode terms in the Lagrangian can then be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L} &= \frac{1}{4g_{\rm YM}^2} \epsilon^{\alpha\beta} W_{\alpha} W_{\beta} \Big|_F + h.c. \\ &= -\frac{2}{g_{\rm YM}^2} \left(-2 \int_0^1 ds \int_0^s du \, e^{2(1-u)R} A_{\mu} e^{-2(s-u)R} A^{\mu} e^{-2(1-s)R} \right. \\ &+ \int_0^1 ds e^{2sR} A_{\mu} e^{2(1-s)R} \int_0^1 du e^{-2uR} A^{\mu} e^{-2(1-u)R} \right)^2 \\ &- \frac{2}{g_{\rm YM}^2} \left[(\delta^{\mu\rho} \delta^{\nu\sigma} - \delta^{\mu\sigma} \delta^{\nu\rho}) + \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \right] \mathcal{A}_{\mu}^+ \mathcal{A}_{\nu}^- \mathcal{A}_{\rho}^+ \mathcal{A}_{\sigma}^-, \end{aligned}$$
(C.31)

where

$$\mathcal{A}^{\pm}_{\mu} \equiv \int_{0}^{1} ds e^{\pm 2sR} A_{\mu} e^{\pm 2(1-s)R}.$$
 (C.32)

We have used

$$(S_L^{\mu\nu})^{\ \gamma}_{\alpha}(S_L^{\rho\sigma})^{\ \alpha}_{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2}(\delta^{\mu\rho}\delta^{\nu\sigma} - \delta^{\mu\sigma}\delta^{\nu\rho}) + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma},\tag{C.33}$$

with $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ normalized as $\epsilon^{0123} = 1$.

D Computation of x_n

In the following we will frequently encounter divergent sums over integers or half-integers. Since these divergences come from expanding propagators in series of say $\frac{(2\pi n)}{\beta^2}$, the sums should be understood as regularized sums cut off at $n \approx \sqrt{\beta/\sigma_0}$.

Using (3.5), (3.7) and (3.8), the equation for x_n is

$$(1+x_n)^2 = \left[\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}\frac{1}{\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + s_n(1+x_n)^{-1}} + A_n\right] \left[\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}\frac{1}{\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + s_n(1+x_n)} + B_n\right]^{-1}, \quad (D.1)$$

where

$$A_{n} = \frac{1}{\pi n} \left(\sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{n - k}{k} \frac{1}{s_{k} s_{n-k}} \frac{1 + x_{n-k}}{1 + x_{k}} + \sum_{r} \frac{1}{h_{r} h_{n-r}} + \frac{\beta}{2\pi |n| \eta_{0}} \sqrt{\frac{\beta \sigma_{0}}{2}} \right) \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-6/5}) \right]$$
$$B_{n} = \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{1}{k s_{k} s_{n-k}} \frac{1}{(1 + x_{k})(1 + x_{n-k})} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-6/5}) \right]. \tag{D.2}$$

Since A_n contains η_0 , to solve for x_n we also need to know η_0 to the relevant order,

$$\eta_0 = \frac{1}{\beta \sigma_0^2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{3/5}).$$
(D.3)

The Schwinger-Dyson equation for x_n can thus be written as

$$\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta}\right) \frac{(1+x_n)^2 - 1}{s_n^2} = A_n - (1+x_n)^2 B_n + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-11/5}), \tag{D.4}$$

or

$$\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi n}\right)^{2} \frac{2}{\beta} \left[n \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{1}{k s_{k} s_{n-k}} \left(\frac{1+x_{n-k}}{1+x_{k}} - \frac{(1+x_{n})^{2}}{(1+x_{k})(1+x_{n-k})} \right) - \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{1}{s_{k} s_{n-k}} \frac{1+x_{n-k}}{1+x_{k}} + \sum_{r} \frac{1}{h_{r} h_{n-r}} + \frac{\beta}{2\pi |n| \eta_{0}} \sqrt{\frac{\beta \sigma_{0}}{2}} \right]$$

$$= (1+x_{n})^{2} - 1 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3/5}).$$
(D.5)

Note that the correction in replacing s_n by $s_n^{(0)}$ is of order $\mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3/5})$ because $A_n - (1 + \beta^{-3/5})$ $(x_n)^2 B_n \sim \beta^{-1}$. Write

$$s_k = \operatorname{sign}(k) \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} + s_k^{(1)}, \quad h_r = \operatorname{sign}(r) \sqrt{\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0}} + h_r^{(1)},$$
 (D.6)

where $s_k^{(1)}, h_r^{(1)}$ are of order $\beta^{-2/5}$. $s_n^{(1)}$ can be determined by expanding the Schwinger-Dyson equation for s_n as written earlier. Let us also write for now the Schwinger-Dyson equation for h_r to the relevant order,

$$h_r = \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_0} \frac{1}{h_r} + \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{1}{k s_k (1 + x_k) h_{r-k}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}).$$
(D.7)

We have

$$s_k^{(1)} = \frac{\beta \sigma_0}{4\pi} \sum_{\ell \neq 0,k} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(\ell) \operatorname{sign}(k-\ell)}{\ell} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}),$$

$$h_r^{(1)} = \frac{\beta \sigma_0}{4\pi} \sum_{\ell \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(\ell) \operatorname{sign}(r-\ell)}{\ell} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}).$$
 (D.8)

The equation for x_n can be written as

$$(1+x_n)^2 - 1 = \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi n}\right)^2 \frac{2}{\beta} \left[\frac{\beta \sigma_0}{2} n \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(n-k)}{k} \left(\frac{1+x_{n-k}}{1+x_k} - \frac{(1+x_n)^2}{(1+x_k)(1+x_{n-k})} \right) \right. \left. - \frac{\beta \sigma_0}{2} \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(n-k) \left(\frac{1+x_{n-k}}{1+x_k} - 1 \right) \right.$$
(D.9)

$$+ 2 \left(\frac{\beta \sigma_0}{2} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\sum_{k \neq 0, n} \operatorname{sign}(n-k) s_k^{(1)} - \sum_r \operatorname{sign}(n-r) h_r^{(1)} \right) + \frac{\beta}{2\pi |n| \eta_0} \sqrt{\frac{\beta \sigma_0}{2}} \right] + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3/5}).$$

Note that we have set x_n to zero in the third line since it is already of order β^0 . Using

$$\sum_{k \neq 0,n} \operatorname{sign}(n-k) s_k^{(1)} - \sum_r \operatorname{sign}(n-r) h_r^{(1)}$$
(D.10)
= $\frac{\beta \sigma_0}{4\pi} \sum_{\ell \neq 0} \frac{1}{|\ell|} \left[\sum_{k \neq 0,n,\ell} \operatorname{sign}(n-k) \operatorname{sign}(k-\ell) - \sum_r \operatorname{sign}(n-r) \operatorname{sign}(r-\ell) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}),$

we have

$$2\pi^{2}n^{2}\left[(1+x_{n})^{2}-1\right] = \frac{\beta^{2}\sigma_{0}}{2}n\sum_{k\neq0,n}\frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)\operatorname{sign}(n-k)}{k}\left(\frac{1+x_{n-k}}{1+x_{k}}-\frac{(1+x_{n})^{2}}{(1+x_{k})(1+x_{n-k})}\right) + \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_{0}}{2}\right)^{\frac{5}{2}}\frac{\beta}{\pi}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\frac{1}{|\ell|}\left[\sum_{k\neq0,n,\ell}\operatorname{sign}(n-k)\operatorname{sign}(k-\ell) - \sum_{r}\operatorname{sign}(n-r)\operatorname{sign}(r-\ell)\right] + \frac{\beta^{3}\sigma_{0}^{2}}{2\pi|n|}\sqrt{\frac{\beta\sigma_{0}}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3/5}),$$
(D.11)

where we have used $\eta_0 = 1/\beta^2 \sigma_0 + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{3/5})$. Note that on the r.h.s., even though the $\beta^2 \sigma_0$ term is naively of order $\beta^{3/5}$, but the two pieces in the bracket cancel to leading order, and so the term is actually of order β^0 . Without further cancellation, the whole r.h.s. is of order 1. On the other hand, the l.h.s. is of order $\beta^{-3/5}$. Therefore we have an inconsistency unless the r.h.s. vanishes to leading order.

Write

$$x_n = \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{a_n}{\pi} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-6/5}),$$
 (D.12)

where $a_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. We assume that a_n is of order 1. The equation for x_n becomes

$$0 = 2n \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(n-k)}{k} \left(a_{n-k} - a_n \right) + \frac{3}{|n|} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3/5}).$$
(D.13)

Here we used

$$\sum_{\ell \neq 0} \frac{1}{|\ell|} \left[\sum_{k \neq 0, n, \ell} \operatorname{sign}(n-k) \operatorname{sign}(k-\ell) - \sum_{r} \operatorname{sign}(n-r) \operatorname{sign}(r-\ell) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{\ell \neq 0} \frac{1}{|\ell|} \left(\operatorname{sign}(n) \operatorname{sign}(\ell) + \delta_{n\ell} \right) = \frac{1}{|n|}.$$
 (D.14)

 a_n now obeys the equation

$$4\left[\operatorname{sign}(n)HN(|n|-1) + \frac{1}{2n}\right]a_n = 3\frac{\operatorname{sign}(n)}{n^2} + 2\sum_{k\neq 0,n}\frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)a_k}{|n-k|}.$$
 (D.15)

where

$$HN(m) \equiv \sum_{k=1}^{m} \frac{1}{k}.$$
 (D.16)

A solution is given by

$$a_n = \frac{3}{2|n|},\tag{D.17}$$

that is,

$$x_n = \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{3}{2\pi|n|} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-6/5}).$$
 (D.18)

This confirms our intuition that SUSY Ward identity should hold for the nonzero modes to leading order in the low temperature expansion (2.17) (x_n essentially measures the violation of the the SUSY Ward identity). Together with (3.7), (D.6), and (D.8), we have solved σ_n , η_n , and h_r to the next-to-leading order in large β expansion in terms of σ_0 .

${\rm E} \quad {\rm Computation \ of} \ s^{(1)}_n, h^{(1)}_r, s^{(2)}_n \ {\rm and} \ h^{(2)}_r \\$

In this appendix we will compute s_n and h_r to the second order, $\mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1})$. These terms are relevant for solving the Schwinger-Dyson equation for σ_0 . Let us collect the equations for s_n and h_r to the relevant order.

$$\begin{split} s_{n} &= \left(\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{s_{n}^{3}} \left(1 - \frac{4\pi n}{\beta} \frac{1}{s_{n}}\right) + \frac{A_{n}B_{n}}{s_{n}} + \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}} \frac{1}{s_{n}^{2}} \left[\frac{A_{n}}{1 + x_{n}} + B_{n}(1 + x_{n})\right] + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}) \\ &= \left(\frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{s_{n}^{3}} \left(1 - \frac{4\pi n}{\beta} \frac{1}{s_{n}}\right) + \frac{A_{n}B_{n}}{s_{n}} + \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}} \frac{1}{s_{n}^{2}} \left(A_{n} + B_{n}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}), \\ h_{r} &= \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}} \frac{1}{\frac{2\pi r}{\beta}} + h_{r} + \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{ks_{k}(1 + x_{k})h_{r-k}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}) \\ &= \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}} \frac{1}{h_{r}} - \frac{4\pi r}{\beta^{2}\sigma_{0}h_{r}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{ks_{k}h_{r-k}} - \frac{\beta\sigma_{0}}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\mathrm{sign}(k)\mathrm{sign}(r - k)}{k} x_{k} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}), \\ A_{n} &= \frac{1}{\pi n} \left(n \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{1}{ks_{k}s_{n-k}} - \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{1}{s_{k}s_{n-k}} + \sum_{r} \frac{1}{h_{r}h_{n-r}}\right) \\ &+ \frac{\beta\sigma_{0}}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{n - k}{kn} \mathrm{sign}(k)\mathrm{sign}(n - k)(x_{n-k} - x_{k}) + \frac{2\mathrm{sign}(n)}{\pi^{2}n^{2}} \left(\frac{\beta\sigma_{0}}{2}\right)^{\frac{5}{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}), \\ B_{n} &= \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{1}{ks_{k}s_{n-k}} - \frac{\beta\sigma_{0}}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{\mathrm{sign}(k)\mathrm{sign}(n - k)}{k} (x_{k} + x_{n-k}) + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-8/5}). \end{split}$$

Define

$$g = \sqrt{\frac{\beta\sigma_0}{2}}, \quad C_k = \sum_{\ell \neq 0,k} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(\ell)\operatorname{sign}(k-\ell)}{\ell}.$$
 (E.2)

We can then write

$$s_n = \operatorname{sign}(n)g^{-1} + \frac{g^2}{2\pi}C_n + s_n^{(2)},$$

$$h_r = \operatorname{sign}(r)g^{-1} + \frac{g^2}{2\pi}C_r + h_n^{(2)},$$
(E.3)

with $s_n^{(2)}$ and $h_n^{(2)}$ of β^{-1} order. A_n and B_n can be expanded as

$$A_{n} = \frac{g^{2}}{\pi}C_{n} - \frac{g^{5}}{2\pi^{2}}\sum_{k\neq0,n}\frac{\mathrm{sign}(n-k)C_{k} + \mathrm{sign}(k)C_{n-k}}{k} + \frac{g^{5}}{\pi^{2}n}\sum_{k\neq0,2n}(-1)^{k}\mathrm{sign}\left(n-\frac{k}{2}\right)C_{\frac{k}{2}}$$
$$+ \frac{g^{2}}{\pi}\sum_{k\neq0,n}\frac{n-k}{kn}\mathrm{sign}(k)\mathrm{sign}(n-k)(x_{n-k} - x_{k}) + \frac{2\mathrm{sign}(n)}{\pi^{2}n^{2}}g^{5} + \mathcal{O}(g^{8}),$$
$$B_{n} = \frac{g^{2}}{\pi}C_{n} - \frac{g^{5}}{2\pi^{2}}\sum_{k\neq0,n}\frac{\mathrm{sign}(n-k)C_{k} + \mathrm{sign}(k)C_{n-k}}{k}$$
$$- \frac{g^{2}}{\pi}\sum_{k\neq0,n}\frac{\mathrm{sign}(k)\mathrm{sign}(n-k)}{k}(x_{k} + x_{n-k}) + \mathcal{O}(g^{8}).$$
(E.4)

The equations for s_n and h_r are equivalent to

$$\begin{split} (gs_n)^4 &= 1 - \frac{4\pi n}{\beta s_n} + g^4 A_n B_n s_n^2 + g^2 s_n (A_n + B_n) + \mathcal{O}(g^9) \\ &= 1 - \frac{4\pi n}{\beta s_n} + \frac{g^6}{\pi^2} C_n^2 + \frac{2g^4 s_n C_n}{\pi} - \frac{g^7 s_n}{\pi^2} \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(n - k) C_k + \operatorname{sign}(k) C_{n-k}}{k} \\ &+ \frac{g^7 s_n}{\pi^2 n} \sum_{k \neq 0, 2n} (-1)^k \operatorname{sign}\left(n - \frac{k}{2}\right) C_{\frac{k}{2}} - \frac{g^4 s_n}{\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(n - k)}{k} (x_k + x_{n-k}) \\ &+ \frac{g^4 s_n}{\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{n - k}{kn} \operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(n - k) (x_{n-k} - x_k) + \frac{2 \operatorname{sign}(n)}{\pi^2 n^2} g^7 s_n + \mathcal{O}(g^9) \\ &= 1 - \frac{4\pi g |n|}{\beta} + \frac{2g^3 \operatorname{sign}(n) C_n}{\pi} + \frac{2g^6 C_n^2}{\pi^2} \\ &- \frac{g^6}{\pi^2} \operatorname{sign}(n) \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(n - k) C_k + \operatorname{sign}(k) C_{n-k}}{k} \\ &+ \frac{g^6}{\pi^2 |n|} \sum_{k \neq 0,2n} (-1)^k \operatorname{sign}\left(n - \frac{k}{2}\right) C_{\frac{k}{2}} - \frac{2g^3}{\pi} \operatorname{sign}(n) \sum_{k \neq 0,n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(n - k)}{k} x_k \\ &+ \frac{2}{\pi^2 n^2} g^6 + \mathcal{O}(g^9), \end{split} \tag{E.5} \\ (gh_r)^2 &= 1 - \frac{2\pi r}{\beta h_r} + \frac{g^2 h_r}{\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{k s_k h_{r-k}} - \frac{g^3}{\pi} \operatorname{sign}(r) \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(r - k) C_k + \operatorname{sign}(k) C_{r-k}}{k} \\ &= 1 - \frac{2\pi g |r|}{\beta} + \frac{g^3}{\pi} \operatorname{sign}(r) C_r + \frac{g^6 C_r^2}{2\pi^2} - \frac{g^6}{2\pi^2} \operatorname{sign}(r) \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(r - k) C_k + \operatorname{sign}(k) C_{r-k}}{k} \\ &- \frac{g^3}{\pi} \operatorname{sign}(r) \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k) \operatorname{sign}(r - k)}{k} x_k + \mathcal{O}(g^9). \end{aligned}$$

 $s_n^{(2)}$ and $h_r^{(2)}$ can then be solved to be

$$gs_{n}^{(2)} = -\frac{g\pi n}{\beta} + \operatorname{sign}(n) \frac{g^{6}}{8\pi^{2}} C_{n}^{2} - \frac{g^{6}}{4\pi^{2}} \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(n-k)C_{k} + \operatorname{sign}(k)C_{n-k}}{k} \\ + \frac{g^{6}}{4\pi^{2}n} \sum_{k \neq 0, 2n} (-)^{k} \operatorname{sign}\left(n - \frac{k}{2}\right) C_{k/2} - \frac{g^{3}}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0, n} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)\operatorname{sign}(n-k)x_{k}}{k} + \frac{g^{6}}{2\pi^{2}n^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(g^{9}), \\ gh_{r}^{(2)} = -\frac{g\pi r}{\beta} + \operatorname{sign}(r) \frac{g^{6}}{8\pi^{2}} C_{r}^{2} - \frac{g^{6}}{4\pi^{2}} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(r-k)C_{k} + \operatorname{sign}(k)C_{r-k}}{k} \\ - \frac{g^{3}}{2\pi} \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)\operatorname{sign}(r-k)x_{k}}{k} + \mathcal{O}(g^{9}),$$
 (E.7)

It follows that

$$\sum_{n \neq 0} (gs_n)^{-2} - \sum_r (gh_r)^{-2} = \sum_{\ell \neq 0} (-1)^\ell - \frac{g^3}{\pi} \sum_{\ell \neq 0} (-1)^\ell \operatorname{sign}(\ell) C_{\frac{\ell}{2}} + \frac{g^6}{2\pi^2} \sum_{\ell \neq 0} (-1)^\ell C_{\frac{\ell}{2}}^2$$

$$-\frac{g^{6}}{2\pi^{2}}\sum_{k\neq 0}(-1)^{k}C_{\frac{k}{2}}\sum_{n\neq 0,\frac{k}{2}}\frac{\operatorname{sign}(n-\frac{k}{2})\operatorname{sign}(n)}{n} + \frac{2\pi g}{\beta}\sum_{\ell\neq 0}(-1)^{\ell}|\frac{\ell}{2}|$$

$$+\frac{g^{6}}{2\pi^{2}}\sum_{\ell\neq 0}(-1)^{\ell}\operatorname{sign}(\ell)\sum_{k\neq 0,\frac{\ell}{2}}\frac{\operatorname{sign}(\frac{\ell}{2}-k)C_{k}+\operatorname{sign}(k)C_{\frac{\ell}{2}-k}}{k}$$

$$+\frac{g^{3}}{\pi}\sum_{n\neq 0}\operatorname{sign}(n)\sum_{k\neq 0,n}\frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)\operatorname{sign}(n-k)x_{k}}{k} - \frac{g^{3}}{\pi}\sum_{r}\operatorname{sign}(r)\sum_{k\neq 0}\frac{\operatorname{sign}(k)\operatorname{sign}(r-k)}{k}x_{k}$$

$$-\frac{1}{3}g^{6} + \mathcal{O}(g^{9})$$

$$= -1 - \frac{\pi g}{2\beta} - \frac{5g^{6}}{6},$$
(E.8)

where we have used

$$\sum_{\substack{n \neq 0}} (-1)^n C_{n/2}^2 = -\frac{\pi^2}{3},$$

$$\sum_{\substack{\ell \neq 0}} (-1)^\ell \operatorname{sign}(\ell) \sum_{\substack{k \neq 0, \frac{\ell}{2}}} \frac{\operatorname{sign}(k) C_{\frac{\ell}{2} - k}}{k} = -\frac{\pi^2}{3}.$$
(E.9)

Computation of the free energy \mathbf{F}

We will drop the overall $N^2 N_f$ factor in the following. Let us compute βF_0 first, the free energy for the trial action S_0 ,

$$\beta F_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{\beta^{2} \sigma_{0}}{4\pi^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \ln(1+\eta_{0})$$

$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \ln \left[\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + s_{n}(1+x_{n}) \right] + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \ln \left[\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + s_{n}(1+x_{n})^{-1} \right] - 2\sum_{r>0} \ln \left(\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + h_{r} \right)$$

$$= \text{const} + g \left(\sum_{n\neq 0}^{\infty} s_{|n|}^{(2)} - \sum_{r} h_{|r|}^{(2)} \right) + g \frac{4\pi}{\beta} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n - \sum_{r>0} r \right) + \frac{5}{192} (\beta \sigma_{0})^{3} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}),$$
We have the second and third term in the last line undere because they will be concelled

We leave the second and third term in the last line undone because they will be cancelled by the terms in $-\frac{1}{2}\langle S_3^2\rangle_0$. To compute $-\frac{1}{2}\langle S_3^2\rangle_0$, it will be convenient to recall our solutions for the propagators,

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{n} &= \frac{\beta}{2\pi n} \frac{1}{\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + s_{n}(1+x_{n})} \\ &= \frac{\beta}{2\pi |n|} g \left[\left(1 + \frac{g^{3}}{2\pi} C_{|n|} + g s_{|n|}^{(2)} \right) (1+x_{n}) + g \frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} \right]^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}) \\ &\equiv \Delta_{n}^{(0)} + \Delta_{n}^{(1)} + \Delta_{n}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-1}), \end{split}$$
(F.2)
$$\Delta_{n}^{(0)} &\equiv \frac{\beta}{2\pi |n|} g, \quad \Delta_{n}^{(1)} &\equiv -\frac{\beta}{2\pi |n|} g \left(\frac{g^{3}}{2\pi} C_{|n|} + x_{n} \right), \\ \Delta_{n}^{(2)} &\equiv \frac{\beta}{2\pi |n|} g \left(-g s_{|n|}^{(2)} + \frac{g^{3}}{2\pi} C_{|n|} x_{n} - g \frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} + \frac{g^{6}}{4\pi^{2}} C_{|n|}^{2} + x_{n}^{2} \right). \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_n &= \frac{2\pi n}{\beta} \frac{1}{\frac{2\pi n}{\beta} + s_n (1+x_n)^{-1}} \\ &= \frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} g \left[\left(1 + \frac{g^3}{2\pi} C_{|n|} + g s_{|n|}^{(2)} \right) (1 - x_n + x_n^2) + g \frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} \right]^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3}) \\ &\equiv \epsilon_n^{(0)} + \epsilon_n^{(1)} + \epsilon_n^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-3}), \end{aligned}$$
(F.3)
$$\epsilon_n^{(0)} &\equiv \frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} g, \quad \epsilon_n^{(1)} &\equiv -\frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} g \left(\frac{g^3}{2\pi} C_{|n|} - x_n \right), \\ \epsilon_n^{(2)} &\equiv \frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} g \left(-g s_{|n|}^{(2)} - \frac{g^3}{2\pi} C_{|n|} x_n - g \frac{2\pi |n|}{\beta} + \frac{g^6}{4\pi^2} C_{|n|}^2 \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$g_{r} = \frac{1}{\frac{2\pi r}{\beta} + h_{r}} = g \operatorname{sign}(r) \left[1 + \frac{g^{3}}{2\pi} C_{|r|} + g h_{|r|}^{(2)} + g \frac{2\pi |r|}{\beta} \right]^{-1} \equiv g_{r}^{(0)} + g_{r}^{(1)} + g_{r}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-2}),$$

$$g_{r}^{(0)} \equiv g \operatorname{sign}(r), \quad g_{r}^{(1)} \equiv -\operatorname{sign}(r) \frac{g^{4}}{2\pi} C_{|r|}, \quad g_{r}^{(2)} \equiv g \operatorname{sign}(r) \left(-g h_{|r|}^{(2)} + \frac{g^{6}}{4\pi^{2}} C_{|r|}^{2} - g \frac{2\pi |r|}{\beta} \right).$$
(F.4)

Using the above,

$$\begin{split} -\frac{1}{2}\langle S_{3}^{2}\rangle_{0} &= \frac{1}{2\beta\sigma_{0}^{2}(1+\eta_{0})} + \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\Delta_{n}\epsilon_{n} - \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{r>0}g_{r}^{2} + \frac{1}{\beta(1+\eta_{0})}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\Delta_{n}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\beta}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\sum_{n\neq0,\ell}\Delta_{n}\Delta_{\ell-n}\epsilon_{\ell} + \frac{1}{\beta}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\sum_{r}g_{r}g_{\ell-r}\Delta_{\ell} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\beta\sigma_{0}^{2}(1+\eta_{0})} + \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}g^{2}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}(-)^{k} + \frac{1}{(1+\eta_{0})}\frac{g^{2}\beta}{4\pi^{2}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{n^{2}} + \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\Delta_{n}^{(1)}\epsilon_{n}^{(0)} \\ &+ \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\Delta_{n}^{(0)}\epsilon_{n}^{(1)} - \frac{4}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{r>0}g_{r}^{(0)}g_{r}^{(1)} + \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\Delta_{n}^{(2)}\epsilon_{n}^{(0)} + \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\Delta_{n}^{(1)}\epsilon_{n}^{(1)} \\ &+ \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\Delta_{n}^{(0)}\epsilon_{n}^{(2)} - \frac{4}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{r>0}g_{r}^{(2)}g_{r}^{(0)} - \frac{2}{\beta\sigma_{0}}\sum_{r>0}(g_{r}^{(1)})^{2} \\ &- \frac{g^{3}}{4\pi}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\operatorname{sign}(\ell)\sum_{n\neq0,\ell}\operatorname{sign}(\ell-n)\operatorname{sign}(n)\frac{\ell}{(\ell-n)n} + \frac{g^{3}}{2\pi}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\frac{\operatorname{sign}(\ell)}{\ell}\sum_{r}\operatorname{sign}(r)\operatorname{sign}(\ell-r) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\beta}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\sum_{n\neq0,\ell}\Delta_{n}^{(1)}\Delta_{\ell-n}^{(0)}\epsilon_{\ell}^{(1)} + \frac{1}{2\beta}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\sum_{n\neq0,\ell}\Delta_{n}^{(0)}\Delta_{\ell-n}^{(0)}\epsilon_{\ell}^{(1)} + \frac{2}{\beta}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\sum_{r}g_{r}^{(1)}g_{\ell-r}^{(0)}\Delta_{\ell}^{(0)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\beta}\sum_{\ell\neq0}\sum_{r}g_{r}^{(0)}g_{\ell-r}^{(0)}\Delta_{\ell}^{(1)} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}) \\ &= -g\left(\sum_{n\neq0}^{\infty}s_{|n|}^{(2)} - \sum_{r}h_{|r|}^{(2)}\right) - g\frac{4\pi}{\beta}\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}n - \sum_{r>0}r\right) + \frac{1}{192}(\beta\sigma_{0})^{3} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^{-9/5}) \end{aligned}$$
(F.5)

We see that the first two terms above cancel with the second and third term in βF_0 .

G High temperature analysis of one-loop truncated $\mathcal{N}=2$ gauge-fixed BFSS

In this appendix we will present the high temperature expansion to the subleading order of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Schwinger-Dyson equations in appendix B.4.

G.1 Subleading corrections to the self-energies

For the zero modes, the next-to-leading correction to the self-energies satisfies the following equations (see appendix B.4), with a, b, c, d defined in (6.2),

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{0}^{(1)M} &= \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m} \right)^{2} - \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \right)^{2} + \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m} \right)^{2} \frac{1}{1 + \Xi_{m}^{M}} - \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \right)^{2} \\ &\quad - \frac{2\mu^{(1)}}{\beta\mu^{2}} - \frac{4}{\beta} \frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{(\Pi_{0}^{V})^{2}} - \frac{12}{\beta} \left(\frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{(\Pi_{0}^{M})^{2} (\Xi_{0}^{M} + 1)} + \frac{\Xi_{0}^{(1)M}}{\Pi_{0}^{M} (\Xi_{0}^{M} + 1)^{2}} \right) \\ &= -\frac{8\beta}{3} - \frac{2\mu^{(1)}}{b^{2}} - \frac{4\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{b^{2}} - 12 \frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{a^{2}(d+1)} - \frac{12}{\beta^{1/2}} \frac{\Xi_{0}^{(1)M}}{a(d+1)^{2}}, \\ &\Pi_{0}^{(1)V} = \frac{2}{\beta} \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m} \right)^{2} - \frac{3}{\beta} \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \right)^{2} + \frac{14}{\beta} \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m} \right)^{2} - \frac{13}{\beta} \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \right)^{2} \\ &\quad - \frac{2\mu^{(1)}}{\beta\mu^{2}} - \frac{2}{\beta} \frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{(\Pi_{0}^{V})^{2}} - \frac{14}{\beta} \frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{(\Pi_{0}^{M})^{2}} \\ &= -\frac{8\beta}{3} - \frac{2\mu^{(1)}}{b^{2}} - \frac{2\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{b^{2}} - \frac{14\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{a^{2}}, \end{split}$$
(G.1)

$$\begin{split} \Xi_0^{(1)M} &= -\frac{12}{\beta} \frac{\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{(\Pi_0^M)^3} = -\frac{12\beta^{1/2}\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{a^3}, \\ \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{2} &= \frac{4\beta}{3} - \frac{2\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{b^2} - \frac{7\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{a^2}, \end{split}$$

where we have used

$$\sum_{\substack{m \neq 0}} \frac{1}{\pi^2 m^2} = \frac{1}{3},$$

$$\sum_{\substack{r}} \frac{1}{\pi^2 r^2} = 1.$$
(G.2)

The solution to these algebraic equations are,

$$\Pi_0^{(1)M} = -2.52\beta, \quad \Pi_0^{(1)V} = -0.32\beta, \quad \Xi_0^{(1)M} = 0.68\beta^{3/2}, \quad \mu^{(1)} = 5.53\beta.$$
(G.3)

Now for nonzero modes,

$$\Pi_{n}^{(1)M} = \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} - \frac{4}{\beta} \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^{2} + \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{m \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{1 + \Xi_{n-m}^{M}} + \frac{12}{\beta} \sum_{r} \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \frac{\beta}{2\pi (n-r)} + \frac{4}{\beta} \left(\frac{2\pi n}{\beta}\right)^{2} \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^{3} \frac{\beta}{2\pi (n-r)} - \frac{2\mu^{(1)}}{\beta\mu^{2}} + \frac{8\mu^{(1)}}{\beta\mu^{2}} + \frac{8}{\beta\mu} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi n}\right)^{2} \Pi_{n}^{M}$$

$$\begin{split} & -\frac{4}{\beta}\frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{(\Pi_{0}^{V})^{2}} - \frac{12}{\beta}\left(\frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{(\Pi_{0}^{M})^{2}(\Xi_{n}^{M}+1)} + \frac{\Xi_{n}^{(1)M}}{\Pi_{0}^{M}(\Xi_{n}^{M}+1)^{2}}\right) \\ & = \beta C_{n}^{M} + \frac{6\mu^{(1)}}{b^{2}} - \frac{4\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{b^{2}} - 12\frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{a^{2}}, \\ \Pi_{n}^{(1)V} &= \frac{2}{\beta}\sum_{m\neq 0}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} - \frac{3}{\beta}\sum_{r}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^{2} + \frac{14}{\beta}\sum_{m\neq 0}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} + \frac{14}{\beta}\sum_{r}\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\frac{\beta}{2\pi(n-r)} \\ & - \frac{1}{\beta}\sum_{r}\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\frac{\beta}{2\pi(n-r)} - \frac{2\mu^{(1)}}{\beta\mu^{2}} + \frac{8\mu^{(1)}}{\beta\mu^{2}} + \frac{8}{\beta\mu}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi n}\right)^{2}\Pi_{n}^{V} - \frac{2}{\beta}\frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{(\Pi_{0}^{V})^{2}} - \frac{14}{\beta}\frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{(\Pi_{0}^{0})^{2}} \\ & = \beta C_{n}^{V} + \frac{6\mu^{(1)}}{b^{2}} - \frac{2\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{b^{2}} - \frac{14\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{a^{2}}, \\ \Xi_{n}^{(1)M} &= \mathcal{O}(\beta^{3}), \\ & \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{2} &= \frac{2}{\beta}\sum_{m\neq 0}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} - \frac{5}{2\beta}\sum_{r}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^{2} + \frac{7}{\beta}\sum_{m\neq 0}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} - \frac{4}{\beta}\sum_{m\neq 0}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} + \frac{4}{\beta}\sum_{r}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^{2} \\ & - \frac{14}{\beta}\sum_{m\neq 0}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} + \frac{7}{\beta}\sum_{r}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{\beta}\sum_{m\neq 0}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi m}\right)^{2} - \frac{1}{2\beta}\sum_{r}\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^{2} \\ & 2\ \Pi_{0}^{(1)V} & 7\ \Pi_{0}^{(1)M} \end{split}$$

$$-\frac{1}{\beta} \frac{1}{(\Pi_0^V)^2} - \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{1}{(\Pi_0^M)^2} = \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{1}{(\Pi_0^M)^2} = \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} - \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} = \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{1}{\beta} - \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{1}{\beta^2} - \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\beta^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\beta^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\beta^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\beta^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\beta^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\beta^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\beta^2} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \frac{1}{$$

where

$$C_n^M = \frac{4}{3} - \frac{2}{\pi^2 n^2} \left(\frac{9}{a^2 + 6} + \frac{2(a - 6b)}{ab^2} \right),$$

$$C_n^V = \frac{7}{12} + \frac{2}{\pi^2 n^2} \left(1 - \frac{8}{b^2} \right).$$
(G.5)

We have used

$$\sum_{r} \frac{1}{r(n-r)} = 0, \quad \sum_{r} \frac{1}{r^3(n-r)} = \frac{\pi^2}{n^2}.$$
 (G.6)

Therefore, from (6.3) and (G.3),

$$\begin{split} \beta^{-1}\Pi_n^{(1)M} &= \frac{4}{3} - \frac{1}{\pi^2 n^2} \left(\frac{18}{a^2 + 6} + \frac{4(a - 6b)}{ab^2} \right) - \frac{12\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{\beta a^2} - \frac{4\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{\beta b^2} + \frac{6\mu^{(1)}}{\beta b^2} \\ &= 5.24183 + \frac{0.0274248}{n^2}, \\ \beta^{-1}\Pi_n^{(1)V} &= \frac{7}{12} + \frac{2}{\pi^2 n^2} \left(1 - \frac{8}{b^2} \right) - \frac{14\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{\beta a^2} - \frac{2\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{\beta b^2} + \frac{6\mu^{(1)}}{\beta b^2} \\ &= 4.86502 + \frac{0.131842}{n^2}. \end{split}$$
(G.7)

G.2 Free energy in the high temperature limit

To leading order in β , the free energy receives only contribution from the bosonic sector. Using the fact that Π_n^M and Π_n^V scales as $\beta^{-1/2}$ (6.4), the same as their corresponding zero modes, we have

$$\beta F^{(0)} = f(\mu) - \mu \partial_{\mu} f - \sum_{l} \log \sigma_{l}^{2} - \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l} \log \Delta_{l}^{2}$$

$$\simeq \frac{1}{2} \log \mu + 2 \log \sinh \left(\frac{\beta (\Pi_{0}^{V})^{1/2}}{2} \right) + 7 \log \sinh \left(\frac{\beta (\Pi_{0}^{M})^{1/2}}{2} \right) \qquad (G.8)$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{const} + 6 \log \beta.$$

The subleading contributions to the free energy come from the $\mathcal{O}(\beta^{3/2})$ corrections to the zero mode self-energies and also the leading nonzero mode self-energies (relative to the kinetic energy),

$$\begin{split} \beta F_{0}^{(1)} &= \frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)V}}{\Pi_{0}^{(0)V}} + \frac{7}{2} \frac{\Pi_{0}^{(1)M}}{\Pi_{0}^{(0)M}} + \frac{7}{2} \frac{\Xi_{0}^{(1)M}}{1 + \Xi_{0}^{(0)M}} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{\mu^{(0)}} \\ &+ \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l} \right)^{2} \Pi_{l}^{V} - \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \right)^{3} \Sigma_{r}^{V} + \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l} \right)^{2} \Pi_{l}^{M} - 7 \sum_{r} \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \Sigma_{r}^{M} \\ &+ \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l \neq 0} \Xi_{l}^{M} - \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l} \right)^{2} \Pi_{l}^{G} + 2 \sum_{r} \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \Sigma_{r}^{G}, \end{split}$$
(G.9)
$$\beta F_{2}^{(1)} &= -\sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l} \right)^{2} \Pi_{l}^{V} + \sum_{r} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \right)^{3} \Sigma_{r}^{V} - \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l} \right)^{2} \Pi_{l}^{M} + 7 \sum_{r} \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \Sigma_{r}^{M} \\ &- \frac{7}{2} \sum_{l \neq 0} \Xi_{l}^{M} + \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l} \right)^{2} \Pi_{l}^{G} - 2 \sum_{r} \frac{\beta}{2\pi r} \Sigma_{r}^{G} - \frac{7}{2} \frac{\Xi_{0}^{M}}{1 + \Xi_{0}^{M}}.$$
(G.10)

Note that to this order

$$\frac{\Xi_0^M}{1+\Xi_0^M} \simeq \text{const} + \frac{\Xi_0^{(1)M}}{1+\Xi_0^{(0)M}} - \frac{\Xi_0^{(1)M}\Xi_0^{(0)M}}{(1+\Xi_0^{(0)M})^2}.$$
 (G.11)

Hence

$$\beta F_0^{(1)} + \beta F_2^{(1)} = \beta^{3/2} \left[\frac{\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{\beta b} + \frac{7}{2} \frac{\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{\beta a} + \frac{7}{2} \frac{\Xi_0^{(1)M} d}{\beta^{3/2} (1+d)^2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{\beta b} \right].$$
(G.12)

$$\begin{split} \beta F_3^{(1)} &\simeq -\frac{4}{\beta\mu} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 + \frac{4}{\beta\mu} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 - \frac{14}{\beta\Pi_0^M} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 \\ &- \frac{14}{\beta\Pi_0^V} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 - \frac{14}{\beta\mu} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 + \frac{7}{\beta\mu} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 \\ &+ \frac{21}{\beta(\Pi_0^M)^2} \epsilon_0^2 + \frac{42}{\beta\Pi_0^M} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 - \frac{42}{\beta\Pi_0^M} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{\beta\Pi_0^V} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 - \frac{1}{2\beta\mu} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 + \frac{1}{\beta\mu} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 \\ &\simeq \beta^{3/2} \left[-\frac{7(7a+36b)}{24ab} - \frac{21\Xi_0^{(1)M}a^2}{\beta^{3/2}(a^2+6)^2} - \frac{42\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{\beta a(a^2+6)} \right] \\ &\simeq -2.38766\beta^{3/2}. \end{split}$$
 (G.13)

Up to an additive constant,

$$\begin{split} \beta F_4^{(1)} &\simeq -\frac{3}{\beta \Pi_0^V} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 - \frac{2\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{\beta (\Pi_0^V)^3} + \frac{2}{\beta \Pi_0^V} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 - \frac{14}{\beta \Pi_0^V \Pi_0^M} \left(\frac{\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{\Pi_0^V} + \frac{\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{\Pi_0^M}\right) \\ &+ \frac{14}{\beta \Pi_0^V \Pi_0^M} (\Pi_0^V + \Pi_0^M) \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 - \frac{14}{\beta \Pi_0^M} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 - \frac{7}{\beta \mu \Pi_0^M} \left(\frac{\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{\Pi_0^M} + \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{\mu}\right) \\ &+ \frac{7}{\beta \mu} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 - \frac{5}{2\beta \mu} \sum_r \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi r}\right)^2 \\ &- \frac{2}{\beta \mu \Pi_0^V} \left(\frac{\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{\Pi_0^V} + \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{\mu}\right) + \frac{2}{\beta \mu} \sum_{l \neq 0} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi l}\right)^2 \\ &\simeq \left(-\frac{12\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{7\beta b^3} - \frac{3\Pi_0^{(1)M}b}{28\beta} + \frac{6\Pi_0^{(1)M}}{7\beta b} - \frac{\Pi_0^{(1)V}}{\beta b} - \frac{\mu^{(1)}}{2\beta b} - \frac{b}{6} + \frac{11}{8b}\right) \beta^{3/2} \\ &\simeq -0.142172\beta^{3/2}. \end{split}$$
(G.14)

Therefore,

$$\beta F^{(1)} \simeq \frac{b}{864} \left(105b^4 - 2338b^2 - 2220 \right) \beta^{3/2}$$

$$\simeq -3.89872\beta^{3/2}.$$
 (G.15)

Hence

$$\beta F = \text{const} + 6 \log\beta - 3.89872\beta^{3/2} + \mathcal{O}(\beta^3).$$
 (G.16)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- T. Banks, W. Fischler, S.H. Shenker and L. Susskind, *M-theory as a matrix model: a conjecture*, *Phys. Rev.* D 55 (1997) 5112 [hep-th/9610043] [INSPIRE].
- [2] V. Balasubramanian, R. Gopakumar and F. Larsen, Gauge theory, geometry and the large-N limit, Nucl. Phys. B 526 (1998) 415 [hep-th/9712077] [INSPIRE].
- [3] N. Itzhaki, J.M. Maldacena, J. Sonnenschein and S. Yankielowicz, Supergravity and the large-N limit of theories with sixteen supercharges, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 046004 [hep-th/9802042] [INSPIRE].
- [4] L. Susskind, Holography in the flat space limit, AIP Conf. Proc. 493 (1999) 98 [hep-th/9901079] [INSPIRE].
- [5] J. Polchinski, M-theory and the light cone, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 134 (1999) 158 [hep-th/9903165] [INSPIRE].
- [6] J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231] [hep-th/9711200]
 [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [8] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [9] W. Taylor, M(atrix) theory: matrix quantum mechanics as a fundamental theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 73 (2001) 419 [hep-th/0101126] [INSPIRE].
- [10] S. Paban, S. Sethi and M. Stern, Constraints from extended supersymmetry in quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 534 (1998) 137 [hep-th/9805018] [INSPIRE].
- [11] S. Paban, S. Sethi and M. Stern, Supersymmetry and higher derivative terms in the effective action of Yang-Mills theories, JHEP 06 (1998) 012 [hep-th/9806028] [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Hyun, Y. Kiem and H. Shin, Supersymmetric completion of supersymmetric quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 558 (1999) 349 [hep-th/9903022] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Sethi and M. Stern, Supersymmetry and the Yang-Mills effective action at finite N, JHEP 06 (1999) 004 [hep-th/9903049] [INSPIRE].
- [14] H. Nicolai and J. Plefka, Supersymmetric effective action of matrix theory, Phys. Lett. B 477 (2000) 309 [hep-th/0001106] [INSPIRE].
- [15] E. Keski-Vakkuri and P. Kraus, Short distance contributions to graviton-graviton scattering: matrix theory versus supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B 529 (1998) 246 [hep-th/9712013]
 [INSPIRE].
- [16] K. Becker and M. Becker, On graviton scattering amplitudes in M-theory, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 6464 [hep-th/9712238] [INSPIRE].
- [17] R. Helling, J. Plefka, M. Serone and A. Waldron, *Three graviton scattering in M-theory*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 559 (1999) 184 [hep-th/9905183] [INSPIRE].
- [18] K.N. Anagnostopoulos, M. Hanada, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, Monte Carlo studies of supersymmetric matrix quantum mechanics with sixteen supercharges at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 021601 [arXiv:0707.4454] [INSPIRE].

- [19] M. Hanada, A. Miwa, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, Schwarzschild radius from Monte Carlo calculation of the Wilson loop in supersymmetric matrix quantum mechanics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 181602 [arXiv:0811.2081] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Hanada, Y. Hyakutake, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, Higher derivative corrections to black hole thermodynamics from supersymmetric matrix quantum mechanics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 191602 [arXiv:0811.3102] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Hanada, J. Nishimura, Y. Sekino and T. Yoneya, Monte Carlo studies of matrix theory correlation functions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104 (2010) 151601 [arXiv:0911.1623] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Hanada, J. Nishimura, Y. Sekino and T. Yoneya, Direct test of the gauge-gravity correspondence for matrix theory correlation functions, JHEP 12 (2011) 020
 [arXiv:1108.5153] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Catterall and T. Wiseman, Towards lattice simulation of the gauge theory duals to black holes and hot strings, JHEP 12 (2007) 104 [arXiv:0706.3518] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Catterall and T. Wiseman, Black hole thermodynamics from simulations of lattice Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 041502 [arXiv:0803.4273] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Catterall and T. Wiseman, Extracting black hole physics from the lattice, JHEP 04 (2010) 077 [arXiv:0909.4947] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D.N. Kabat and G. Lifschytz, Approximations for strongly coupled supersymmetric quantum mechanics, Nucl. Phys. B 571 (2000) 419 [hep-th/9910001] [INSPIRE].
- [27] D.N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D.A. Lowe, Black hole thermodynamics from calculations in strongly coupled gauge theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 16 (2001) 856 [Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001) 1426] [hep-th/0007051] [INSPIRE].
- [28] D.N. Kabat, G. Lifschytz and D.A. Lowe, Black hole entropy from nonperturbative gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 124015 [hep-th/0105171] [INSPIRE].
- [29] I.R. Klebanov and A.A. Tseytlin, Entropy of near extremal black p-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 475 (1996) 164 [hep-th/9604089] [INSPIRE].
- [30] K. Becker and M. Becker, A two loop test of M(atrix) theory, Nucl. Phys. B 506 (1997) 48
 [hep-th/9705091] [INSPIRE].
- [31] K. Becker, M. Becker, J. Polchinski and A.A. Tseytlin, Higher order graviton scattering in M(atrix) theory, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 3174 [hep-th/9706072] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A.V. Smilga, Comments on thermodynamics of supersymmetric matrix models, Nucl. Phys. B 818 (2009) 101 [arXiv:0812.4753] [INSPIRE].
- [33] Y. Okawa and T. Yoneya, Multibody interactions of D particles in supergravity and matrix theory, Nucl. Phys. B 538 (1999) 67 [hep-th/9806108] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S.H. Shenker, The strength of nonperturbative effects in string theory, RU-90-47, (1990) [C90-05-27] [INSPIRE].
- [35] D.J. Gross and E. Witten, Possible third order phase transition in the large-N lattice gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 21 (1980) 446 [INSPIRE].
- [36] S.R. Wadia, $N = \infty$ phase transition in a class of exactly soluble model lattice gauge theories, *Phys. Lett.* **B** 93 (1980) 403 [INSPIRE].
- [37] N. Kawahara, J. Nishimura and S. Takeuchi, High temperature expansion in supersymmetric matrix quantum mechanics, JHEP 12 (2007) 103 [arXiv:0710.2188] [INSPIRE].

- [38] T. Hotta, J. Nishimura and A. Tsuchiya, Dynamical aspects of large-N reduced models, Nucl. Phys. B 545 (1999) 543 [hep-th/9811220] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Galperin, E. Ivanov, V. Ogievetsky and E. Sokatchev, *Harmonic superspace*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2001) [INSPIRE].
- [40] N. Berkovits, Covariant quantization of the superparticle using pure spinors, JHEP 09 (2001) 016 [hep-th/0105050] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D.A. Kastor, E.J. Martinec and S.H. Shenker, RG flow in N = 1 discrete series, Nucl. Phys. B 316 (1989) 590 [INSPIRE].
- [42] C. Vafa and N.P. Warner, Catastrophes and the classification of conformal theories, Phys. Lett. B 218 (1989) 51 [INSPIRE].
- [43] E. Witten, On the Landau-Ginzburg description of N = 2 minimal models, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 9 (1994) 4783 [hep-th/9304026] [INSPIRE].
- [44] P. Fendley and K.A. Intriligator, Exact N = 2 Landau-Ginzburg flows, Nucl. Phys. B 413 (1994) 653 [hep-th/9307166] [INSPIRE].
- [45] P. Fendley and K.A. Intriligator, Scattering and thermodynamics in integrable N = 2 theories, Nucl. Phys. B 380 (1992) 265 [hep-th/9202011] [INSPIRE].
- [46] H. Kawai and Y. Kikukawa, A lattice study of N = 2 Landau-Ginzburg model using a Nicolai map, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 074502 [arXiv:1005.4671] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S. Kamata and H. Suzuki, Numerical simulation of the N = (2,2) Landau-Ginzburg model, Nucl. Phys. B 854 (2012) 552 [arXiv:1107.1367] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S.W. Hawking, Particle creation by black holes, Commun. Math. Phys. 43 (1975) 199 [Erratum ibid. 46 (1976) 206] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S.S. Gubser, Can the effective string see higher partial waves?, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 4984
 [hep-th/9704195] [INSPIRE].